

Costs, Benefits, and Methods of Implementing Alternative Rate Mechanisms for Utility Ratemaking

Research Memorandum No. 531

Costs, Benefits, And Methods Of Implementing Alternative Rate Mechanisms For Utility Ratemaking

Project Staff

Kayla Carroway Stefan Kasacavage Tanya Monsanto

Research Memorandum No. 531

Legislative Research Commission Frankfort, Kentucky legislature.ky.gov

Paid for with state funds. Available in alternative format by request.

Foreword

The nonpartisan Legislative Research Commission staff who produced this report would like to thank all of those who provided assistance in its completion. Officials from the Kentucky Public Service Commission provided data, information, and feedback. Representatives from regulated public utilities provided information and shared their experiences operating in different regulatory environments. Officials from state public utility commissions throughout the country also shared information on public utility regulation in their jurisdictions.

Jay D. Hartz Director

Legislative Research Commission Frankfort, Kentucky November 1, 2022

Contents

Summary		vii
Chapter 1:	Introduction	1
1	The Kentucky Public Service Commission And Regulated Public Utilities	1
	Why Regulate Public Utilities?	2
	What Are Alternative Rate Mechanisms?	3
	Study Objectives	3
	Research Tasks	4
	Major Conclusions	4
Chapter 2:	Utility Ratemaking In Kentucky	7
1	General Ratemaking Principles.	7
	The Current Ratemaking Process In Kentucky	8
	Revenue Requirement	8
	Current Revenue From Service	9
	Rate Design	10
	Final Rate Determination	11
	Costs Of Rate Cases Using Traditional Ratemaking	11
	Critiques Of Traditional Ratemaking	12
	Efficiency Gains And Changes In Demand	12
	Transition To Renewable Generation Sources	12
	Time And Expense	13
	ARMs Make Changes To Traditional Ratemaking To Accomplish Policy Goals	14
Chapter 3:	Alternative Rate Mechanisms	15
1	Cost Trackers	16
	What Are The Policy Objectives Of Cost Trackers?	16
	How Do Cost Trackers Work In Practice?	17
	What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of Cost Trackers?	17
	Which States Use Cost Trackers?	18
	Has Kentucky Adopted Cost Trackers?	18
	Future Test Years	19
	What Are The Policy Objectives Of Using Future Test Years?	19
	How Do FTYs Work In Practice?	20
	What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of FTYs?	20
	Which States Use FTYs?	20
	Has Kentucky Adopted FTYs?	22
	Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms And Revenue Decoupling Mechanisms	23
	What Are The Policy Objectives Of LRAMs And RDMs?	24
	Removing Disincentives From Investing In Energy Efficiency	24
	Reducing Peak Demand.	24
	Promoting Adoption Of New Technology	24
	How Do LRAMs And RDMs Work In Practice?	25

What Are LRAMs' And RDMs' Limitations And Benefits?	25
Which States Use LRAMs And RDMs?	26
Has Kentucky Adopted An LRAM Or RDM?	27
Straight Fixed-Variable Rate Structure	28
What Are The Policy Objectives Of SFVs?	28
How Do SFVs Work In Practice?	28
What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of SFVs?	29
Which States Use SFVs?	30
Has Kentucky Adopted SFVs?	31
Earning-Sharing Mechanism	31
What Is The Policy Objective Of ESMs?	31
How Do ESMs Work In Practice?	31
What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of ESMs?	33
Which States Use ESMs?	33
Has Kentucky Adopted ESMs?	34
Formula Rate Plans And Multiyear Rate Plans	35
What Are The Policy Objectives Of FRPs And MRPs?	35
How Do FRPs And MRPs Work In Practice?	35
What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of FRPs And MRPs?	36
Which States Use FRPs And MRPs?	36
Has Kentucky Adopted An FRP Or MRP?	37
Chapter 4: Annual Rate Review Mechanisms And Other Regulatory Streamlining Measures	39
Streamlined Ratemaking Procedures For Small Water And Natural	
Gas Utilities	39
Why Does The Order Apply Only To Electric Distribution	40
Cooperatives?	40
Proposed Streamlined Ratemaking Procedures In Kentucky	41
Annual Review Mechanisms	41
2022 House Bill 341	43
Annual Rate Review Mechanisms Adopted in Other States	43
I ennessee	44
Alabama	45
Support For RSE	45
Opposition To RSE	46
Mississippi	47
South Carolina	48
Appendix A: Comprehensive Table Of States That Authorized ARMs	49
Appendix B: Abbreviations And Acronyms	51
Appendix C: Authorizing Memorandum	55
Endnotes	57

Tables

2.1	Recent KYPSC-Approved Rate Case Expenses	. 11
2.2	Recent KYPSC-Approved Utility Revenue Increases Versus Requested Revenue	
	Increases	13
3.1	FTY By State, Utility Type, And Year Adopted	21
3.2	LRAMs And Decoupling By State And By Authorization Or Implementation Date	26
3.3	Comparing Customer Bills Under Traditional And SFV Rates	29
3.4	Straight Fixed-Variable Rates By State And Adoption	30
3.5	ESM, FRP, And MRP By State, Sector, And Year	33

Figures

3.A	Virginia's ESM Range	32	
-----	----------------------	----	--

Summary

The Legislative Research Commission directed this study to examine the costs, mechanisms for, and benefits of implementing alternative rate mechanisms (ARMs) for public utilities regulated by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KYPSC). The KYPSC regulates the rates and terms of service for the roughly 1,100 public utilities under its jurisdiction, which include investor-owned electric, natural gas, water, and sewer utilities, electric cooperatives, and water boards and commissions. KYPSC regulation is necessary to avoid monopoly pricing that may otherwise be in effect for the vital services that public utilities provide. Rates for regulated public utilities are determined through rate cases, which are administrative proceedings through which the KYPSC gathers information from the utilities and qualifying intervening parties to determine how much revenue the utility is allowed to collect and what rates it can charge its customers to achieve the required revenue. This method of setting rates is known as traditional cost of service ratemaking.

The goal of the ratemaking process is to establish utility rates that are fair, just, and reasonable. Among other things, this means the rates

- are not unduly burdensome to customers;
- are sufficient to support safe and reliable utility service;
- allow the utility to recover its costs for providing the service; and
- for investor-owned utilities, provide a fair rate of return to the utilities and their investors.

In order to better accomplish these and other policy goals, over the years Kentucky and other states have implemented changes to their traditional cost of service ratemaking procedures. These changes are generally referred to as alternative rate mechanisms. For this study, staff reviewed ARMs that have been adopted in Kentucky and other states. The study examines the purpose of each ARM, how long it had been in effect, and the way that it changed the traditional cost of service ratemaking procedure in the state where it was adopted.

The review showed that, to the extent that ARMs have been able to achieve their purposes in influencing traditional cost of service ratemaking, the degree of their effectiveness depended on their particular design and how tailored they were to the needs and deficiencies of the ratemaking procedures where they were adopted.

Also included in the study is a discussion of various streamlining measures that have been adopted in Kentucky for small natural gas utilities, small water boards, and electric distribution cooperatives. Some of these regulated utilities, due to their size, governance, or business organization, have historically been so reluctant to raise their customers' rates that they delay the filing of rate cases until their financial standing or utility service could be put at risk. Through the implementation of streamlining measures to remove some of the cost, time, and technical barriers to ratemaking for these eligible utilities, the KYPSC has successfully encouraged them to file more frequent rate cases. However, the KYPSC has stated that it may not be appropriate to extend these streamlining measures to other regulated utility sectors that are operating under different financial pressures and do not need to be encouraged to file more frequent rate cases. Recent proposals to implement annual rate review mechanisms through streamlined ratemaking proceedings for other utility sectors in Kentucky, including investor-owned electric, water, and natural gas utilities, are also examined and discussed. Annual rate review mechanisms allow regulated utilities to make annual filings for streamlined rate case proceedings with the KYPSC so that their rates can be adjusted between full rate cases to account for differences between their projected costs of service and what their actual costs turned out to be, among other things. These annual rate review proposals have not been adopted in Kentucky due in part to concerns voiced by consumer advocacy groups, the Office of Attorney General, and the KYPSC that the proposals went too far in limiting intervenor and public involvement in the process and that utility filings and rate increases would not be subject to enough public scrutiny. However, proponents of annual rate review mechanisms, including representatives of regulated utilities operating in Kentucky and Tennessee, maintain that a well-designed annual rate review mechanism could effectively reduce the time, expense, and administrative burden of a rate case while providing sufficient public and intervenor involvement to ensure that rate changes approved by a public utility commission through the process were fair, just, and reasonable.

Finally, the study examined annual rate review mechanisms adopted in several other southeastern states. The states examined varied in how much their annual rate review mechanisms streamlined their ratemaking processes and how much public and intervenor involvement was allowed. The study found that annual rate review mechanisms adopted in other states necessarily involved at least some tradeoff between the benefits to be gained by streamlining the traditional ratemaking process and the consequences of limiting intervenor and public involvement in the process.

Chapter 1

Introduction

The Legislative Research Commission directed nonpartisan staff to study the costs, the mechanisms, and the benefits of implementing alternative rate mechanisms (ARMs) for public utilities regulated by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KYPSC). The authorizing memorandum directs that the study include an examination of state public utility commissions that use ARMs, with descriptions of when the ARMs were adopted and a determination as to whether the ARMs produced "just and reasonable" rates; promoted the safety, reliability, and resiliency of energy infrastructure; and enhanced the economic development opportunities in those states.¹

The Kentucky Public Service Commission And Regulated Public Utilities

The KYPSC is a governmental administrative body, empowered by the Kentucky General Assembly to regulate the rates and terms of service for public utilities under its jurisdiction. These public utilities include investor-owned electric, natural gas, water and sewer utilities, and customer-owned electric and telephone cooperatives, water boards, and water associations. The KYPSC also regulates some aspects of natural gas pipelines. Overall, the KYPSC regulates approximately 1,100 public utilities.²

However, not all public utilities are regulated by the KYPSC. Municipal utilities are generally exempt from KYPSC regulation, although the KYPSC does regulate a municipal utility's rates and service for provision of wholesale utility service to a public utility. Public utilities that fall under the jurisdiction of the Tennessee Valley Authority are also not regulated by the KYPSC.

Additionally, not all of the 1,100 public utilities regulated by the KYPSC are subjected to complete regulation of their rates and service. Some public utilities, such as telephone companies or cooperatives, are under less stringent regulation, and in 2000 the KYPSC allowed natural gas unbundling, which is a partial deregulation of retail choice of the fuel supplier.³

The Kentucky Public Service Commission (KYPSC) regulates approximately 1,100 public utilities, including nonmunicipal electric, natural gas, water, and sewer utilities. Utility services are so essential to the health, welfare, and economic well-being of the state that their rates and terms of service are regulated.

Regulated utilities are granted exclusive franchises to provide their services within their certified service areas and are guaranteed the revenue they need to operate. In return, they must provide all of their customers with safe, adequate, and reliable utility service and must submit to KYPSC regulation.

Ratemaking is the process through which the KYPSC determines a regulated utility's rates.

Why Regulate Public Utilities?

At the core of public utility regulation is the idea that public utilities are entities "dedicated to public use" or "affected with public interest."⁴ They are entities that sell goods and services to the public for compensation that are so essential for the health, welfare, and economic well-being of the state that their rates and services should be subject to state regulation and oversight.⁵ Additionally, in the absence of regulation, utilities would be able to operate as natural monopolies, with no competition for the service they provide. A customer's only recourse for high rates or poor service would be to go without the service or move to the service area of a utility that provided better or cheaper service.⁶

In order to avoid these problems and accomplish effective regulation, public utilities are granted certain privileges in operating their businesses in exchange for accepting obligations relating to their rates and service. The KYPSC grants each regulated public utility a distinct certified service area in the commonwealth, in which it is the only authorized provider for its particular utility service. Additionally, the regulated utility is allowed to recover its reasonably incurred costs of service and, if it is investor-owned, it is allowed to earn a fair return on its capital investment through the rates that it charges. In exchange for these privileges, the regulated utility accepts the obligations to provide all paying customers in its service area with safe, adequate, reliable, convenient, and nondiscriminatory service and to submit to comprehensive regulatory oversight by the KYPSC. This exchange of a regulated utility's privileges for its obligations is known as the "regulatory compact," and it is the logical foundation of utility regulation in the commonwealth.⁷

In its regulatory capacity, the KYPSC seeks to protect the public by ensuring the fair, nondiscriminatory provision of public utility service and fair, just, and reasonable utility rates. This is accomplished through the ratemaking process, through which the regulated utility, the Office of Attorney General, and intervening stakeholders litigate what the utility's rates should be before the KYPSC. As discussed in Chapter 2, in traditional ratemaking in Kentucky and other jurisdictions, the regulator determines the regulated utility's total revenue requirement—its costs of service (COS)—plus a reasonable return on investment, then allocates a rate to each customer class the utility serves to achieve the required revenue. This traditional ratemaking process is known as "cost of service" ratemaking.⁸

Alternative rate mechanisms are changes to traditional cost of service (COS) ratemaking that states have adopted to accomplish specific policy goals.

What Are Alternative Rate Mechanisms?

For the purposes of this study, *alternative rate mechanism* is defined as any change to traditional cost of service ratemaking that has been adopted by a state to accomplish a specific policy goal. As discussed in Chapter 2, traditional COS ratemaking may have shortcomings in areas (such as incentivizing energy conservation and efficiency gains, recovering environmental compliance costs, or reducing administrative inefficiency) that may be addressed through the adoption of an ARM.

To provide the appropriate background for discussions of how ARMs may be adopted to change the ratemaking process, Chapter 2 discusses general traditional ratemaking principles and how the process is accomplished in the commonwealth. The following chapters discuss ARMs that have been adopted in Kentucky and other jurisdictions and how they have changed traditional ratemaking where they were adopted. Chapter 4 examines measures that have been proposed or adopted in Kentucky and other jurisdictions to streamline the ratemaking process for certain utility sectors, either through modifications to the general rate case procedure or through annual rate review mechanisms.

Study Objectives

This study has the following research objectives:

- Provide background information on public utility regulation and the current ratemaking process in Kentucky.
- Provide multistate, descriptive information about types of ARMs adopted by state public utility commissions (PUCs).
- Discuss streamlined ratemaking procedures proposed or adopted in Kentucky, and review measures other states have implemented to streamline the ratemaking process, with particular focus on annual rate review mechanisms.
- Provide sufficient information on ratemaking, the policy goals and effectiveness of ARMs, and the effectiveness of streamlining and annual rate review measures to allow policymakers to make determinations as to whether to adopt or continue these measures in the commonwealth.

Research Tasks

Over the course of the study, LRC staff conducted the following research tasks related to background research, legal review, interviews, and information requests:

- Reviewed literature concerning utility ratemaking including traditional cost of service and alternative ratemaking
- Reviewed cases pertinent to the development of regulatory concepts used in ratemaking proceedings
- Reviewed proposed legislation, statutes, administrative regulations, orders from regulatory proceedings, and newspaper articles concerning various ARMs
- Reviewed relevant committee testimony regarding specific ARMs or legislative proposals for ARMs
- Reviewed KYPSC orders relating to the adoption and implementation of ARMs and streamlined ratemaking procedures
- Reviewed multistate data on ARMs adopted by various PUCs
- Reviewed any available, relevant utility rate and expense data for utilities and for the PUCs for the years that an ARM was in effect
- Interviewed staff at the KYPSC regarding ratemaking and the use of ARMs in the commonwealth
- Interviewed utility staff with ratemaking responsibilities

Major Conclusions

This report has the following major conclusions:

- The ratemaking procedure in Kentucky has been modified several times over the years through the adoption of various ARMs by statute, by administrative regulation, or by order of the Kentucky Public Service Commission. Demand-side management plans, various cost trackers, future test years, and infrastructure surcharges have all been adopted to modify the ratemaking process in Kentucky.
- There is a wide range of additional ARMs adopted in other states that Kentucky policymakers may be interested in pursuing to make further adjustments to the current ratemaking procedure in Kentucky.
- To the extent that ARMs have been able to achieve their purposes in influencing traditional cost of service ratemaking, the degree of their effectiveness depended on their particular

design and how tailored they were to the needs and deficiencies of the ratemaking procedures where they were adopted.

- The current ratemaking procedure in Kentucky relies on intervenor and public involvement to scrutinize utility filings and to establish records on which the KYPSC can make informed decisions in rate cases.
- Measures adopted in other states to streamline and regularize rate proceedings, including annual rate review mechanisms, have been successful in decreasing the time, expense, and administrative burden associated with rate proceedings in those states, but there is a risk that a poorly designed streamlined ratemaking procedure could inhibit intervenor and public involvement and reduce regulator ability to ensure fair, just, and reasonable rates.

Chapter 2

Utility Ratemaking In Kentucky

To understand the changes that alternate rate mechanisms could impose, it is necessary to first understand how the ratemaking process is currently accomplished. This chapter discusses the general ratemaking principles that guide regulators in making rate determinations, the current ratemaking process in Kentucky, and common critiques of traditional ratemaking that may be addressed through the adoption of ARMs.

General Ratemaking Principles

Ratemaking is the process by which the KYPSC reviews and approves the rates and terms for utility service for the public utilities under its jurisdiction. In Kentucky, ratemaking is governed by the statutes in KRS Chapter 278, the administrative regulations in 807 KAR Chapter 5, case law, and the rules and procedures adopted by the KYPSC pursuant to its statutory authority.

The foundational principle underlying any ratemaking determination is whether the resulting rate will be "fair, just and reasonable" as required by KRS 278.030. Accomplishing this goal requires the balancing of sometimes competing policy interests, including

- allowing utilities to recover their costs of service and, in the case of investor-owned utilities, to earn reasonable returns on their capital investments;
- maintaining stable and predictable prices;
- providing for nondiscriminatory rates that fairly allocate costs across customer classes;
- promoting the efficient use of the service provided;
- providing reliable service as measured by the frequency, duration, and magnitude of customer service outages;
- maintaining affordable prices for customers;
- providing for the construction and maintenance of adequate facilities to provide safe and reliable utility service for customers;
- ensuring the utility is managed with fiscal responsibility;
- promoting the provision of utility services that minimize their environmental impacts, to the extent practicable; and

Establishing "fair, just and reasonable" utility rates requires the balancing of sometimes competing policy interests. • minimizing regulatory burden, including reducing the frequency and expense of regulatory proceedings.⁹

In a ratemaking proceeding, the utilities, the attorney general (on behalf of the ratepayers), and various intervening stakeholders advocate for rates that reflect the policy considerations they have prioritized. The KYPSC makes a determination based on those competing interests as to what constitutes a fair, just, and reasonable rate.

The Current Ratemaking Process In Kentucky

The KYPSC approves or disapproves utility rate changes through regulatory proceedings called rate cases, which commence when a regulated utility files a request for a rate change with the KYPSC. Rate cases typically last 6 to 7 months, with a cost of roughly \$200,000 to more than \$1.5 million. These are proceedings through which the KYPSC gathers information from the utilities and qualifying intervening parties through a process that includes discovery, discretionary public meetings, public comment, evidentiary hearings, sworn testimony, and posthearing filings in order to make the determinations described below and to ultimately issue a final order on what the rate should be.^{a 10}

Revenue Requirement

The first step in a rate case is computing the utility's revenue requirement, which is the total amount of revenue a utility needs in order to recover all of its KYPSC-approved expenses. The KYPSC uses data from both a historical and a forecasted 12-month test year to determine those expenses, and applies the following formula to determine a utility's revenue requirement:¹¹

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{O} + (\mathbf{V} - \mathbf{D})\mathbf{r}$$

In this formula:

- R = the total revenue requirement.
- O = the utility's operating and maintenance expenses, which include routine construction costs, equipment purchases, customer billing and service, salary and benefit costs for employees, major construction once the project is in service, and borrowing costs. Not included are sports sponsorships,

The KYPSC makes decisions on utility rate changes through rate cases, where utilities and intervening parties offer evidence on what the rates should be.

In a rate case, a utility's revenue requirement must first be calculated to determine how much revenue will be necessary to recover all of its expenses.

^a Officials from the Public Service Commission submit that rate cases in Kentucky are shorter than in most states, and that they are shorter than the litigation of a typical civil or criminal matter.

executive bonuses, charitable donations, club memberships, fines, or any other expense deemed unreasonable by the KYPSC.¹²

- V = the gross value of the utility's tangible and intangible property.
- D = the utility's accrued depreciation. Combined (V D) constitutes the utility's rate base, also known as its capital investment.
- r = the rate of return (ROR) a utility is allowed to earn on its capital investment, which will be prorated by its debt-toinvestment ratio and will include the interest rate the utility pays on its debt.

The following are not included in the calculation of a utility's revenue requirement:

- Fuel cost adjustment, which allows electric utilities to immediately recover increases or rebate decreases in fuel costs subject to later review by the KYPSC¹³
- Commodity costs of natural gas
- Environmental compliance costs¹⁴
- Energy efficiency programs^{b 15}
- Low-income assistance program fees¹⁶
- Franchise fees
- Other costs recovered through riders
- Local pass-through taxes based on utility service

Current Revenue From Service

Once the utility's total revenue requirement has been calculated, the next step in a rate case is determining how much revenue will be generated based on the utility's existing rates. This requires an understanding of the usage of the utility service and which factors may influence either an increase or decrease in that service. Various factors influence future utility service demand in both the short term and the long term including weather, household size, technology, household appliance efficiencies, building efficiencies, and new or eliminated uses for utility service.¹⁷

The difference between the revenue requirement and the revenue from service is the amount of the overall revenue adjustment that will be authorized in the rate case. This step also provides the demand or usage to be expected from customers, which is taken into account in the next step to determine what rates, applied to

The next step in a rate case is determining how much revenue will be generated based on the utility's current rates, taking into account the forecast demand for the utility service.

^b Referred to as demand-side management surcharges.

Legislative Research Commission Alternative Rate Mechanisms

that expected usage, will achieve the necessary revenue for the revenue requirement.¹⁸

Rate Design

Once the utility's total revenue requirement has been calculated and the overall revenue adjustment has been determined, the next step in a rate case is determining how that revenue will be collected through the rate design. This requires allocating the revenue requirement to each customer class that the utility serves so that each customer class pays its share of the costs of providing utility service. Utilities ordinarily have at least three rate classescommercial, industrial, and residential—but they may have more depending on the types of customers they serve. The differences in the rates assigned to the different rate classes are meant to reflect the differences in the costs of the utility to provide service to those rate classes. The KYPSC uses utility-submitted and intervenorsubmitted cost of service studies to determine what those cost differences are. Residential customers do not generally use utility service equally across any given day, week, or even month of the year, so utility providers plan to be able to meet the peak demands for their service. Industrial customers, on the other hand, frequently require utility service at a constant rate. Generally, cross-subsidization between rate classes is to be avoided, but it has historically been common in Kentucky for the cheaper-to-serve industrial class to subsidize the more diffuse and price-sensitive residential class to some degree.^{c 19}

Another aspect of rate design is the allocation of fixed costs (which are independent of usage) and variable costs (which are based on usage) in each of the rate classes. Residential and commercial classes typically have two-part rates: a customer or meter charge for fixed costs and a volumetric charge for usage costs. Industrial rates typically have the customer and volumetric charges and an additional demand charge, which is based on the cost of the industrial customer's peak electricity use during a billing cycle. In traditional ratemaking practice, fixed and variable costs are not allocated on strictly proportional bases to fixed and variable charges, which has the practical effect of causing larger users within a class to pay more than the fixed costs they impose on

Through rate design, the revenue requirement is allocated to each customer class served by the utility so that each one pays its share for the cost of providing the service.

^c Kentucky Public Service officials partially dispute this claim: "Although this applies for some utilities, even a change in study methodology indicates the opposite, and for those utilities, this is not a constant phenomenon. Cross-class subsidization ebbs and flows across time and utilities. This gives the impression that historically, industrial subsidization is a constant, but that is not the case, and is not the case today for many utilities."

At the end of the rate case, the KYPSC approves a rate that it believes to be "fair, just and reasonable" in light of the evidence. the system, with small users paying less than their share of fixed costs.²⁰ However, the KYPSC in recent years has made changes so that those costs and charges more closely align.

Final Rate Determination

In making its final determination in a rate case, the KYPSC must decide on approving a rate that is fair, just, and reasonable considering all of the evidence gathered on the record throughout the proceeding. The KYPSC attempts to arrive at a rate that is not unduly burdensome to customers, is sufficient to support safe and reliable service, provides a fair return to utilities and their investors, and will be adequate to recover future costs of service until a new rate case is filed.²¹

Costs Of Rate Cases Using Traditional Ratemaking

Expenses for rate cases under traditional ratemaking can vary greatly depending on the size and type of the regulated utility, the complexity of the issues under consideration, and the amount of intervenor involvement. Information gathered from the KYPSC shows that, in recent cases involving investor-owned electric and gas utilities, KYPSC-approved rate case expenditures ranged from roughly \$200,000 to over \$1.5 million, with an average of approximately \$630,000 per rate case.²² The largest approved expenditures for rate cases were mostly legal expenses, but for a few utilities, consulting expenses were the largest. These KYPSC-approved expenditures are amortized over a number of years and are charged to the utilities' customers.

 Table 2.1

 Recent KYPSC-Approved Rate Case Expenses

KVBSC Case Number	l ltility	KV DSC Approved Pate Case Expense Total Upamertized
KTP3C Case Nulliber	ounty	KT PSC Approved Rate Case Expense Total Onamortized
2019-00271	Duke—electric	\$339,168.00
2020-00174	Kentucky Power	\$336,763.00
2020-00349	KU—electric	\$1,569,189.00
2020-00350	LG&E—electric	\$865,723.24
2020-00350	LG&E—gas	\$213,378.31
2021-00185	Delta—gas	\$947,339.08
2021-00183	Columbia—gas	\$555,556.00
2021-00190	Duke—gas	\$224,969.00
2021-00214	Atmos Energy—gas	\$301,880.75
Total cost for utilities listed		\$5,353,966.38
Average cost for utilities listed		\$631,510.70*

* Averages determined by adding the PSC rate case expense divided by the number of utilities.

Source: Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022.

Critiques Of Traditional Ratemaking

If left unchanged over a long enough period of time, certain aspects of the traditional ratemaking process may lead to suboptimal policy outcomes as the economic, social, technological, and environmental landscapes in which ratemaking decisions are made continue to evolve. Several alternative rate mechanisms have already been adopted in Kentucky to address some of these issues, as is discussed in the following chapters.

Efficiency Gains And Changes In Demand

Technological advances have resulted in improvements in the efficiency and performance of electric utilities customers' electricity-using devices, which has led to a reduction in electricity consumption.²³ As a result of these technological advances as well as a general shift in the US economy from manufacturing to more service-oriented industries in recent decades, electricity consumption relative to gross domestic product (GDP) has fallen substantially. The growth rate of electricity consumption has fallen to less than one-half of the growth of GDP in the period of 1975 to 1995, when the growth rates were approximately the same. Per capita retail electricity sales have also lagged far behind the rate of growth of per capita real GDP since 1992.²⁴ Energy consumption per real dollar of GDP has also fallen steadily in the United States over the past 20 years.²⁵

Utilities can reduce their variable costs in response to low sales, but they cannot as easily reduce fixed costs. As sales revenues fall, the per-unit charge for recovering fixed costs must go up. The continuing decline of sales growth, coupled with the increase of distributed generation resources such as rooftop solar, has caused utilities to be concerned about their ability to recover their fixed costs under traditional ratemaking.²⁶

Transition To Renewable Generation Sources

In response to customer demand and the possibility that carbon dioxide emissions may be priced or otherwise constrained in the future, electric utilities are transitioning to renewable, emissionsfree generation sources more quickly than they otherwise would.²⁷ This transition entails the retirement and replacement of carbonintensive coal-fired generation resources that can provide electricity as needed with renewable generation sources such as wind and solar that provide intermittent generation that is available only at certain times. This accelerated transition has complicated

resource adequacy and reliability planning that is inherent in the traditional ratemaking process for electric utilities.

Time And Expense

Another common criticism of traditional ratemaking is the time, expense, and regulatory burden involved in a rate case determination for regulated entities, the regulating agency, and the ratepayers who ultimately bear the costs. As discussed in further detail in Chapter 4, some utilities have advocated for ways to reduce this time and expense by implementing mechanisms, including annual rate review mechanisms, whereby rates or certain aspects of rates can be adjusted between rate cases when certain criteria and regulatory requirements are met.

However, public advocacy groups and regulators can be reluctant to agree to changes that may curtail public involvement in and oversight of the ratemaking process. Officials from the KYPSC maintain that while the costs of fully litigating a rate case may seem high, those costs pale in comparison to the money that ratepayers are saved by challenging utilities' revenue increase requests through full rate case proceedings. Table 2.2 presents the differences between approved and requested revenue increases for the rate cases shown in Table 2.1.

Table 2.2
Recent KYPSC-Approved Utility Revenue Increases Versus Requested Revenue Increases

		Requested	Approved	
Case No.	Utility	Revenue Increase	Revenue Increase	Difference
2019-00271	Duke—electric	\$45,634,456	\$28,506,249	\$17,128,207
2020-00174	KY Power	\$70,096,743	\$52,419,332	\$17,667,411
2020-00349	KU	\$169,900,000	\$110,626,795	\$59,273,205
2020-00350	LG&E—electric	\$128,400,000	\$73,721,524	\$54,678,476
2020-00350	LG&E—gas	\$33,000,000	\$23,241,950	\$9,758,050
2021-00185	Delta—gas	\$9,135,000	\$5,497,332	\$3,637,668
2021-00183	Columbia—gas	\$26,694,986	\$18,331,404	\$8,363,582
2021-00190	Duke—gas	\$15,228,161	\$9,170,880	\$6,057,281
2021-00214	Atmos Energy—gas	\$16,389,804	\$2,612,525	\$13,777,279
Total average		\$57,164,350	\$36,014,221	\$21,151,235

Source: Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022.

ARMs Make Changes To Traditional Ratemaking To Accomplish Policy Goals

Chapter 3 discusses how ARMs have been adopted in Kentucky and other states to address critiques of traditional ratemaking and to accomplish at least one of the following policy goals:

- Reduce regulatory lag and utility financial risk for operational and investment activities.
- Reduce the frequency of rate cases.
- Promote certain social goals such as efficiency and conservation.
- Make utility service affordable to low-income customers.
- Promote investment in new technologies.
- Optimize usage over different times of day, or reduce a peaking problem.
- Lessen the price rigidity of regulation, and promote cost efficiency.
- Avoid rate shock.
- Promote specific activities such as expanding infrastructure investment, enhancement of environmental control technologies, resource loss audits, or quality of utility service.²⁸

Chapter 3

Alternative Rate Mechanisms

An alternative ratemaking mechanism (ARM) is any ratemaking mechanism that modifies traditional cost of service ratemaking to accomplish a policy goal. As used in this chapter, *traditional ratemaking* means cost of service ratemaking.

There is no universal yardstick for measuring the value of an ARM. The value depends on the proponents' objectives and whether the ARM meets those objectives.

The regulatory objective tells us what the proponents of the ARM wants to achieve. An alternative ratemaking mechanism is any modification to traditional cost of service ratemaking adopted by a state to accomplish a specific policy goal.²⁹ This chapter discusses eight commonly used ARMs: cost trackers, future test years (FTYs), lost revenue adjustment mechanisms (LRAMs), revenue decoupling mechanisms (RDMs), straight fixed-variable rates (SFVs), earningsharing mechanisms (ESMs), formula rate plans (FRPs), and multiyear rate plans (MRPs).³⁰ For each ARM, the following questions are answered:

- What is the policy objective of the ARM?
- How does the ARM work in practice?
- What are the ARM's limitations and benefits?
- Which states use the ARM, and when was the ARM adopted?
- Has Kentucky adopted the ARM? If so, when?

There is no universal yardstick for measuring the value of an ARM. The value depends on how effectively it achieves its policy goals in the state where it was adopted, relative to traditional ratemaking and/or relative to other alternatives that may be adopted to accomplish the same goals. Although they do so in different ways, ARMs generally have the effect of shifting the costs and benefits of how rates are calculated and allocated, relative to traditional ratemaking proceeding.^a These parties include the utility (and its shareholders if investor-owned), the ratepayers (often represented by consumer advocates and the Office of Attorney General), and the state public utility commission.

Appendix A is a comprehensive table of the different ARMs, by type, adopted by each state. Some of the ARMs are adopted exclusively for one sector, such as electricity, while others may

^a In the course of gathering information for the study, on September 1, 2022, staff submitted a questionnaire on ARMs to KYPSC Chairman Kent Chandler and KYPSC Executive Director Linda Bridwell. Their response—received via email to Tanya Monsanto on October 4, 2022—included the following: "Regardless of whatever benefit derived from an alternative rate mechanism [may be, it] is almost always reflected as a corresponding detriment to customers. If a utility recovers a cost faster because of an ARM, customers are paying it faster. The same is true for ARMs that reduce the utility's risk; the risk does not disappear by virtue of a particular mechanism, but instead is shifted, and is likely shifted to customers."

be adopted for all public utilities regulated by the state's PUC. The date that the ARM was adopted is listed for each type of ARM except for cost trackers, which had several dates for each type and were too numerous to list.

Cost Trackers

Cost trackers are a type of ARM that allows expedited recovery of specific costs that the state PUC has approved outside of a general rate case. Examples of cost trackers include surcharges or riders for fuels, certain mandated taxes, or mandated environmental compliance.³¹

What Are The Policy Objectives Of Cost Trackers?

Cost trackers are designed to reduce "regulatory lag," which is the time between when the utility's costs rise and when it is allowed to recover those costs through its rates. Reducing regulatory lag makes the operational and investment activities of a utility less risky.

Cost trackers reduce the number of general rate cases and the customer's rate shock, because they allow the utility to recover certain variations from cost projections as they are incurred. Under traditional ratemaking, unless the utility goes through a general rate case, the base rates does not change when the cost to provide the utility service changes. So, unless there is a rate case, the utility may be incurring costs unaccounted for in the base rates. This is especially true when prices for significant inputs, such as fuel costs, are increasing. Under traditional ratemaking, the utility bears the risk to its bottom line between rate case filings. With cost trackers, customer bills more accurately reflect the current cost of providing utility service.

Additionally, traditional ratemaking does not allow for recovery of an asset until it has been put in use. This can lead to rate shock when the customer's rate suddenly folds in excessive capital costs for large physical plants, infrastructure, or equipment.

Finally, certain non-revenue-producing costs, such as decommissioning costs, may be recovered via a cost tracker to enhance compliance and promote modernization of the infrastructure.³²

Cost trackers allow expedited recovery of a specific cost, approved by the public utility commission (PUC) outside of a general rate case.

The regulatory objective of cost trackers is to reduce the time between utility cost increases and the recovery of those costs in rates. That lag is called "regulatory lag."

The regulatory target of cost trackers is to make recovery of a cost match the time when the cost is incurred.

Cost trackers shift the risk associated with the recovery of an expense from the shareholders to the ratepayers.

Limitations of cost trackers include reduction in utility innovation, cost control, and oversight. They also shift the risk from the utility to the ratepayer.

Benefits of cost trackers include utility cash flow, accuracy of price signals, and ease of application to different sectors. They also reduce the utility's financial risk, and they reward compliance with government mandates.

How Do Cost Trackers Work In Practice?

Cost trackers accomplish their objectives "by shifting the risk associated with recovery of the expense in question from shareholders to customers because the company is able to change its rates to recover its costs on a current basis, without any negative effect on the bottom line and without the expense and delay that accompanies a rate case."³³ This will be true of all public utilities regardless of whether they are investor-owned or cooperatives in terms of their organization and governance structure.^b

A cost tracker is basically a bookkeeping system. The utility maintains a "balancing account" in its ledger system that inputs the projected cost and the actual cost of the specific items procured by the utility. It also tracks any related inputs approved by the PUC via a rider. The utility calculates the cost of a specified item, such as fuel costs, during a prior month's usage and then directly passes the cost on to the ratepayer on the next month's bill. The amount on a customer's bill is based on customer usage and is normally listed as a surcharge on the bill. With a cost tracker, the aim is to bring revenue and cost growth into balance and reduce the need for frequent rate cases.³⁴

What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of Cost Trackers?

Limitations of cost trackers include the following:

- They can thwart utility innovation and internal cost control.
- They tend to reduce the oversight of a utility's costs and investments.
- They tend to proliferate use of trackers for other costs, some of which might not be appropriate.
- They shift risks from the utility to the ratepayer.
- Reductions in a utility's financial risk often are not offset by reductions in return on equity (ROE).³⁵

Benefits of cost trackers include the following:

- They improve the utility's cash flow and reduce the utility's financial risk.
- Customer charges more accurately reflect the costs of providing the utility service.
- They encourage utility investment in infrastructure and reward compliance with governmental mandates.
- They are easily applied to different utility sectors and different types of costs.³⁶

^b In both types, there is some sort of ownership structure that bears the risk.

As of 2022, all 50 states and the District of Columbia have adopted some type of cost tracker.

The KYPSC has authorized a significant number of cost trackers for fuel, purchase power, environmental compliance, infrastructure improvements, and excessive water loss and conservation programs.

Which States Use Cost Trackers?

Most states have adopted cost trackers to recover the cost of utility procurement of fuel inputs such as coal or natural gas, purchased power, environmental compliance equipment, specific taxes and franchise fees, pension contributions, uncollectable bills, and infrastructure construction costs. As of 2022, all 50 states and the District of Columbia have adopted at least some cost trackers for the electric and natural gas utilities.³⁷ The majority of these cost trackers are fuel adjustment clauses, but a number of states also use cost trackers for environmental compliance and infrastructure. Some states have even applied the methodology to recover nonrevenue expenses for water infrastructure.³⁸

Has Kentucky Adopted Cost Trackers?

The KYPSC has authorized a significant number of cost trackers for fuel, purchase power, environmental compliance, infrastructure improvements, excessive water loss, and recovery for conservation program expenses.

The fuel adjustment clause authorizes recovery via a surcharge on the customer bill for purchases of fuel and purchased power. The cost recovery is reviewed 6 months after the purchase and again in 2-year intervals.

The KYPSC has authorized a separate gas cost recovery for purchased gas in the tariffs for local natural gas distribution utilities. This is approved when gas supplier costs have increased, and the approval period is for 30 days. The KYPSC audits the gas cost adjustment every quarter.

Kentucky uses a capital expenditure tracker for water, natural gas, and electric utilities that include

- a qualified infrastructure program rider that recovers costs for water infrastructure that has exceeded its service life and a pipeline modernization mechanism that recovers costs for compliance with federal safety regulations; and
- accelerated main replacement, pipeline replacement, and service line replacement for gas utilities.

Future Test Years

Future test year (FTY) is an ARM designed to make the test year data that is used to create the utility rate more reflective of actual conditions when the utility rate goes into effect.

A test year is a 12-month period that a utility uses to determine its revenue needs for the purposes of ratemaking.³⁹ It is a snapshot intended to foretell the utility's short-term revenue needs. It should not contain data for extraordinary events that can skew cost and revenue estimates.

The test year is the foundation for calculating the utility's revenue requirement and determining whether the state PUC should order a change in base rates. There are three main types of test years:

- Historic test year (HTY), which looks at actual revenues and • costs for 12 months prior to the rate case
- Future test year, which forecasts future anticipated revenues • and costs for 12 months after the new rate is in effect
- Partially forecasted test year or hybrid test year, which uses both HTY and FTY to capture a 12-month period

FTY is an ARM designed to make the test year data more reliable and give a more accurate approximation of revenues and costs. In a strict sense, FTY looks only at the hypothetical future period, but in practice PUCs may use a blend of a future test period and a historic test period, and perhaps an additional historic or normalized reference period.⁴⁰

What Are The Policy Objectives **Of Using Future Test Years?**

Traditional ratemaking typically relies on HTYs to predict the future cost of operations and investment needs for calculating the revenue requirement, planning, and cost recovery. There is typically a 2-year lag time between the HTY and when the new rate on which it is based is approved, during which time economic conditions can significantly change.⁴¹ By using an FTY, utilities seek to reduce the distortion caused by the lag time from the HTY and make more current and accurate calculations for their revenue requirements and the rates needed to generate those revenues. FTYs are most useful when fiscal conditions are changing and HTYs would not be as reliable to predict future revenue needs.

When changing cost and revenue conditions are built into the ratemaking model opportunities, the operational and investment activities of a utility can become less risky. States that use FTYs tend to have utilities with better credit ratings, which improves the utility's opportunity to attract capital.⁴²

FTY authorizes current rates based on estimates or forecasts for revenues and expenses that will occur in the future.

The regulatory objective of FTYs is to reduce the distortion caused by the 2-year period that it takes for the PUC to approve new rates.

Limitations of FTYs include errors in forecasts, difficulty in predicting certain costs, and higher regulatory costs.

Benefits of FTYs include rates that more accurately reflect current business conditions, insulation against rate shock, and improved return on equity (ROE) and credit rating.

There are 31 states that authorize use of FTYs.

How Do FTYs Work In Practice?

Most PUCs rely on the utility to provide the forecast and demonstrate that its forecast is a sound predictor for base rates. Those rates would be then be deemed "just and reasonable" unless the PUC's staff or intervenors build a record of evidence to the contrary. For that reason, PUCs often improve their confidence in the data by requiring utilities to also submit historic data as a reference or guideline.

Some PUCs are exploring the use of FTYs to encourage investment in new technologies, many of which account for current environmental goals.⁴³ This is because environmental technologies tend to flatten revenue growth by controlling consumption. Some Colorado electric utilities recently sought use of FTYs for investment in carbon-free generating technologies.⁴⁴

What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of FTYs?

Limitations of FTYs include the following:

- Forecasts are susceptible to error, and utilities have incentive to produce biased forecasts.
- It is difficult to predict certain cost and sales elements in the forecast.
- There are higher regulatory costs for using this method, because PUCs must review forecasts and data.
- There is difficulty in determining where the burden of proof lies in rate proceedings.
- FTYs may not reduce rate case frequency when fiscal pressures are chronic.⁴⁵

Benefits of FTYs include the following:

- Rates tend to more accurately reflect current business conditions.
- FTYs insulate against rate shock by building in gradual increases.
- FTYs can fully compensate utilities when revenues are flat or declining relative to costs.
- FTYs move the utility closer to its authorized rate of return and improves the utility's credit rating.
- FTYs reduce operating risk for the utility.⁴⁶

Which States Use FTYs?

There is some discrepancy in reports of the number of states using FTYs. A 2019 order of the Maryland PUC stated that 35 states

have experience with using FTYs, but the order does not identify the states.⁴⁷ An earlier study identified 31 states using FTY in some form for electric utilities.⁴⁸ Of that number, 13 states have approved utilities operating under FTYs.

Ten other states occasionally use fully forecasted test years, and seven states plus the District of Columbia use partially forecasted test years.⁴⁹ Indiana's electric utilities and Colorado and Nebraska's natural gas companies are legally allowed to use FTYs, but their state PUCs have not approved a utility request on that basis and continue to rely on HTYs.

Even though some states have reported a positive experience in using FTYs, some PUCs argue that there is a need for auditing the utility's forecasts to disclose bias.⁵⁰ Many state PUCs derive their legal authority for using FTYs from the authority to set fair, just, and reasonable rates for public utilities. However, some states have passed specific alternative rate-setting mechanisms that include the use of FTYs for certain utility sectors such as electric or natural gas. Therefore, some state legislatures have granted the authority for their PUC to allow use of FTY, but the PUC may not have yet authorized the use of FTY for a utility in the state.^{c 51}

Table 3.1 lists the states that have the authority to use FTYs and the year that the authority was granted or the first known incidence when the state PUC ordered an FTY.

State	Utility Type	Year Adopted
Alabama	Natural gas	1982
Arkansas	Electric; natural gas	2008
California*	Electric	1982
Colorado*	Electric; gas	2008
Connecticut	Electric	2013
	Gas	1995
Delaware	Electric	N/A
District of Columbia	Electric	1999
Florida	Electric	1981
Georgia	Electric	2002
Hawaii	Electric	2008
Idaho	Electric	2012
Illinois	Electric	1982
Indiana	Electric; gas	2014
Kentucky	Electric	1992

Table 3.1FTY By State, Utility Type, And Year Adopted

^c Some states such as Indiana, New Mexico and Pennsylvania allow FTY but have no or minimal experience with it.

State	Utility Type	Year Adopted
Louisiana	Electric	2014
Maine	Electric	1996
Maryland	Electric	1999
	Natural gas	2007
Michigan	Electric; natural gas	1939
Minnesota	Electric; natural gas	1974
Mississippi	Electric	2000
Missouri	Electric	N/A
New Jersey	Electric	N/A
New Mexico	Electric	2013
New York	Electric	1972
North Dakota	Electric	1995
Ohio	Electric; natural gas	2011
Oregon	Electric	1971
Pennsylvania	Electric; natural gas	1989
Rhode Island	Electric	N/A
Tennessee	Electric	1986
Utah	Electric	1972
Wisconsin	Electric; gas	2009
Wyoming	Electric; natural gas	2003

Note: N/A = secondary sources or the state PUC has identified the state as having the authority and using FTY, but the state has not responded to information requests concerning when that authorization was granted or used. *Authority derived from statutory and legal authority to set fair, just, and reasonable rates.

Sources: Janine Migden-Ostrander et al. "Decoupling Case Studies: Revenue Regulation Implementation In Six States." Regulatory Assistance Project, July 2014; Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia. Order No. 20273: Formal Case No. 1156 In The Matter Of The Application Of Potomac Electric Power Company For Authority To Implement A Multi-Year Rate Plan For Electric Distribution Service In The District Of Columbia, Dec. 20. 2019; New Mexico Public Regulation Commission. In The Matter Of The Adoption Of A Proposed Role Governing Public Utility Rate Applications Based On Future Test Year, Docket No. 12-00029-UT, Feb. 8, 2012; James H. Cawley and Norman J. Kennard. *A Guide To Utility Ratemaking*. Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, 2018 ed., p. 87; Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: 2015 Update." Edison Electric Institute, 2015.

Has Kentucky Adopted FTYs?

In 1992, the Kentucky General Assembly amended KRS 278.190 to allow regulated utilities to use FTYs. This statute, along with its mandate to set "fair, just and reasonable rates," constitutes the basis of the Public Service Commission's authority for FTYs.

Kentucky's utilities must choose to use either FTYs or HTYs in applications for a rate change. After FTY or HTY is chosen, all the data for revenue and expenses submitted with the application must use that test period. The KYPSC also requires financial data for the 5 most recent calendar years in order to generate a normalized view of the revenues and expenditures. The goal is for all the data to be historical when rates go into effect. Using FTY theoretically lowers the utility's financial risk, but the KYPSC has not lowered the utility's authorized ROE or ROR.

Kentucky allows utilities to use either FTY or historic test data, but not both. This restriction prevents utilities from cherrypicking data when setting rates. Although HTY and FTY data may be used to examine costs, revenues, and investment activities to create a 12-month test period, Kentucky does not use a hybrid test year.⁵² The concern is that a hybrid test year would allow utilities to "cherry-pick" test periods to maximize expenses beyond the level that the utility normally incurs after setting its rates.⁵³

The KYPSC reports it has not experienced problems when evaluating FTY forecasts. The KYPSC relies on the utility to conduct the forecast and demonstrate that the forecast and the proposed rates are fair, just, and reasonable. The KYPSC does not have a formalized auditing process for FTY, but when irregularities are found in the data, an adjustment based on historic data is made. The adjustment is called a "pro forma" adjustment and is issued through a KYPSC order.⁵⁴

Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms And Revenue Decoupling Mechanisms

LRAMs and RDMs are both ARMs that seek to eliminate or reduce the dependence of a utility's revenues on utility service sales. LRAMs are specifically used for a utility's loss of sales resulting from energy efficiency programs; RDMs are more broadly applicable to losses of sales revenues from other causes.⁵⁵

Lost revenue occurs when actual utility service sales are less than the projected sales that are used to calculate the revenue that the utility needs to provide service to the customer.⁵⁶ These losses in sales revenue can be caused by changing economic conditions that impact demand, unforeseen weather conditions, or technological developments that have the effect of reducing customer demand.⁵⁷

When sales revenues fall, utilities can face difficulty in recovering their fixed costs (independent from sales) for providing their utility service, because under traditional ratemaking, utilities recover these fixed costs partially through their variable sales charges, as explained in Chapter 2.⁵⁸

Under traditional ratemaking, there is a direct link between sales and revenues, which makes the utility dependent on increasing its sales and focused on the buildout of infrastructure to deliver more service. LRAMs lessen the direct impact of utility sales and infrastructure buildout on the utility's profit margin. Decoupling goes further to sever the linkage between utility revenue and the

Lost revenue occurs when actual utility sales are less than the projected sales used to calculate the utility's revenue requirement.

Lost revenue adjustment mechanisms (LRAMs) and revenue decoupling mechanisms change how the utility recovers lost revenue. sales volume by addressing the linkage between the two in the variable rate on the utility bill.⁵⁹

What Are The Policy Objectives Of LRAMs And RDMs?

LRAMs and RDMs seek to eliminate the disincentive for efficiency and conservation, promote renewable resources, and lower the demand for utility service during periods characterized by the highest demand ("peak" periods) and increase it during periods characterized by the lowest demand ("nonpeak" periods).⁶⁰

Removing Disincentives From Investing In Energy Efficiency

Under traditional COS ratemaking, utilities are disincentivized from investing in energy efficiency for three main reasons:

- The costs of energy efficiency programs themselves constitute financial losses unless they are recovered through rates or fees.
- The programs reduce demand for investments in capital assets such as power plants, which are investments on which utilities are allowed to earn a reasonable rate of return.
- The programs result in lower electricity sales but do not reduce the fixed costs of providing service.⁶¹

LRAMs, and to a lesser extent RDMs, seek to remove these disincentives by allowing a utility to recover its lost revenue resulting from energy efficiencies.

Reducing Peak Demand. Utility service such as electricity is a complex interconnected grid where producers are connected via transmission and distribution wires. When demand for electricity is too high during peak periods, the result can be brownouts or rolling blackouts, because the demand exceeds the capacity to provide service. For the electric grid in such circumstances, the authority that dispatches the generators must pull them offline or cut service to certain types of large users, such as industrial customers. This result occurred in California, and throughout the area under the control of the Midcontinent Independent System Operator, during the summer of 2022.⁶²

Promoting Adoption Of New Technology. LRAMs and RDMs also may promote investment in new technologies such as advanced metering, distributed generation, and grid modernization, which provide a greater certainty that utilities will recover their fixed costs.

The regulatory objectives of LRAMs and decoupling are to eliminate the disincentive for efficiency and conservation, promote renewable resources, and lower the demand for utility service during periods of high demand.
Under an LRAM, the utility recovers some or all lost revenue when it adopts an efficiency or conservation management program.

Limitations of LRAMs and decoupling include PUC reliance on complex forecasts for lost revenues, as well as shifting risk from the utility to the ratepayer. Full decoupling RDMs guarantee that utilities earn an exact amount of revenue based on a regulatory formula rather than on the amount of energy their customers use. Revenue requirements for full decoupling RDMs are established in rate cases, and decoupling true-up adjustments occur outside of rate cases to rebate oversales or to impose surcharges or increase rates for undersales based on actual sales since the last true-up.⁶³ Partial RDMs can also be utilized to guarantee the recovery of only a portion of a utility's revenue requirement.

LRAMs allow utilities to recover only revenues lost due to energy efficiency programs.⁶⁴ Regulators calculate the energy savings associated with the efficiency measures installed by the utility, and then they allow the utility to recoup the revenues it has lost due to those energy savings. If the utility has higher sales than predicted, no adjustment is made.

Common LRAMs include demand-side management (DSM) programs that pay ratepayers to reduce their usage during peak demand when the supply of the service is constrained. DSM programs are principally used for electric and gas utilities, but states such as California and Arizona are extending DSM for the conservation of water and sewer services.⁶⁵

What Are LRAMs' And RDMs' Limitations And Benefits?

Limitations of LRAMs include the following:

- The PUC relies on complex forecasts for anticipated lost revenues.
- The revenue adjustment includes only shortfalls.
- The cost of these utility programs may not be covered.
- Because the throughput incentive continues to incentivize sales, programs may be designed and implemented in a less meaningful manner.⁶⁶

Limitations of RDMs include the following:

- They shift the risk of running the utility from the utility's shareholders to the ratepayer.
- They make the base rate unresponsive to the demand for the utility service.
- They reduce transparency in the ratemaking process.
- They constrain economic development by reducing the incentive to increase infrastructure buildout by the utility.

Benefits of LRAMs and decoupling include improving the ability to meet the revenue requirement, greater investment in efficiency and conservation. Benefits of LRAMs include the following:

- The concept can be applied to utility sectors that need to promote conservation or more efficient use of the utility resource.
- States with LRAMs have greater investment in energy efficiency, renewable resources, and conservation.
- LRAMs may be a method to promote energy efficiency in places where revenue decoupling is unwanted by utilities, PUCs, or other stakeholders in the ratemaking process.⁶⁷

Benefits of decoupling include the following:

- A utility is more likely to meet its revenue requirement with full decoupling than without it.
- Decoupling removes the disincentive for energy efficiency, distributed generation, and energy conservation.
- It provides more predictable prices to customers than COS ratemaking does.
- It creates greater financial certainty for the utility, reducing its operating risk.
- It is easier to implement and reduces rate case frequency.⁶⁸

Which States Use LRAMs And RDMs?

As of 2022, 25 states have adopted LRAMs, most of which are demand-side management programs for electric utilities, natural gas utilities, or both.⁶⁹ Thirty-three states have adopted decoupling mechanisms for electric, natural gas, or both.⁷⁰

Because LRAMs require the utility design and implementation, do not allow for customer refunds higher than expected sales, and do not completely delink revenue from sales, states have begun to transition from LRAMs to decoupling.⁷¹ New Hampshire adopted an LRAM program in 2017 but later replaced it with revenue decoupling. Other states, such as Montana, decide whether to approve an LRAM or decoupling ARMs on a case-by-case basis for the utility making the request.

Table 3.2
LRAMs And Decoupling By State And By Authorization Or Implementation Date

State	LRAM	Decoupling
Alabama	_	2007
Arizona	2012 electric and gas	2011
Arkansas	2010 electric and gas	2007
California	2014 water	2004
Colorado	2008 gas	2017
Connecticut	2013 gas	2013

As of 2022, 25 states have adopted LRAMs. Most are demand-side management programs for electric or natural gas utilities. Thirty-three states have adopted decoupling mechanisms.

State	LRAM	Decoupling
Delaware	2009	2014
Georgia	2010 electric	_
Hawaii	—	2010
Idaho	_	2007
Illinois	—	2007
Indiana	2016 electric	
lowa	_	2006
Kansas	2007 electric	2008
Kentucky	1994 electric and gas	
Louisiana	2014 electric	_
Maine		2009
Maryland	_	2005
Massachusetts	2013 gas	2008
Michigan	_	2008
Minnesota	_	2009
Mississippi	2014 electric and gas	_
Missouri	2011 electric	
Montana	2004 electric and gas	2019
Nevada	2011 electric	2008 gas
New Hampshire	2017 electric and gas	2019
New Jersey	2020 electric	2018
New Mexico	_	2019
New York		2007
North Carolina	2007 electric	2007
Ohio	2007 electric	2012
Oklahoma	2008 electric and gas	_
Oregon	_	2009
Pennsylvania	_	2019
Rhode Island	_	2011
South Carolina	2008 electric	
South Dakota	2009 electric; 2011 gas	
Utah	2009 electric	2010 gas
Vermont		2006
Virginia	2020 electric	2008 gas
Washington		2014
Wyoming	_	2009

Sources: Annie Gilleo, Marty Kushler, Maggie Molina, and Dan York. "Valuing Efficiency: A Review Of Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms." American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Report U1503, June 2015. Also see Megan Cleveland, Logan Dunning, and Jesse Heibel. "State Policies For Utility Investment In Energy Efficiency." National Conference of State Legislatures, April 2019; American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy. State And Local Policy Database: Utility Business Model. Web.

Kentucky has adopted LRAMs since 2008 for electric and natural gas utilities. Kentucky has not authorized the use of decoupling.

Has Kentucky Adopted An LRAM Or RDM?

Kentucky has not authorized a decoupling mechanism.⁷² In 2008, Kentucky approved use of LRAMs for utilities, which was first authorized by legislation in 1994 allowing utilities to implement DSMs. The authorizing legislation for DSMs was supplemented with performance incentives to make its adoption more appealing to the regulated utilities in 2008 and 2010. Kentucky's DSM

Legislative Research Commission Alternative Rate Mechanisms

programs include financial incentives or shared net benefits between the utility and the ratepayers.⁷³

Straight Fixed-Variable Rate Structure

Under SFVs, the utility separates the fixed and variable charges on the customer bill. All of the PUC-approved fixed costs—which in some instances can include distribution costs and a portion of generation-related costs—are completely recovered through a fixed monthly charge. The approved variable costs are recovered only through the customers' variable charges. This practice differs from traditional ratemaking, which allows for the collection of some fixed costs through variable charges, as discussed in Chapter 2.

What Are The Policy Objectives Of SFVs?

As with LRAMs and RDMs, the objective of SFVs is to eliminate the disincentive for energy efficiency and conservation by making a utility's revenue less reliant on sales, or separate from sales.⁷⁴ The design induces maximum recovery of lost revenue but is not dependent on the adoption of a utility-based conservation program, as LRAMs are. SFVs are also easier to administer than LRAMs and decoupling because there are no forecasts and audited statements to ensure that the utility is not recovering costs that are unauthorized.

How Do SFVs Work In Practice?

Under SFV rates, the change in the amount of a customer's monthly bill depends solely on the amount of the utility service used during the billing period. The fixed component of the SFV rate is not reliant upon the utility's total sales.⁷⁵

The only changes to fixed costs under SFVs would be due to inflation, in which case the utility must adjust its rates by filing a general rate case.^d

Table 3.3 shows three scenarios of expected usage, low usage, and high usage for a hypothetical electric utility customer. The commodity usage is measured in kilowatt-hours—1 kilowatt of usage per hour. Each scenario demonstrates how a customer's bill will differ under SFV rates and traditional rates.

Straight fixed-variable (SFV) rates break the link between a utility's revenue and sales. SFV rates recover the entirety of a utility's fixed costs by increasing the fixed monthly charges on the customer bill.

The regulatory objective of SFVs is to eliminate the disincentive for energy efficiency and conservation.

Under SFVs, the customer's usage affects only the variable portion of the monthly bill. The fixed costs are collected through a separate customer or demand charge.

^d Unless there is an inflation-adjusting mechanism or add-on put in place during the regulatory proceeding during which the SFV rate structure is established.

Usage In Kilowatt Hours	SFV	Traditional	Difference
Expected usage (800 kWh)	\$117.00	\$117.00	—
Low usage (700 kWh)	\$106.13	\$103.00	\$3.13
High usage (900 kWh)	\$127.88	\$131.00	(\$3.12)

 Table 3.3

 Comparing Customer Bills Under Traditional And SFV Rates

Source: Christina Simeone. "Rate Decoupling: Economic And Design Considerations." Kleinman Center for Energy Policy, 2016.

In the low-usage scenario, a customer pays more under the SFV structure than under the traditional rate structure. Compare this outcome to the high-usage scenario, where a customer pays less under the SFV structure than under the traditional rate structure. This difference occurs because, with SFV rates, a utility recovers all of its fixed costs through fixed charges, so customers have a greater fixed charge than under traditional rates, but the customer's variable charge is smaller.

What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of SFVs?

The limitations of SFVs include the following:

- They reduce the benefit to customers who use less, because overall rates are less responsive due to higher fixed demand charges.
- Advocates for low-income ratepayers contend that SFVs hurt such ratepayers if they are also low-usage customers.^c⁷⁶
- They discourage energy efficiency if they are not initiated by the utility.
- They are indifferent to time of use, so they may not shave peaking demand.
- They discourage customer-initiated innovations such as netmetering and distributed generation.
- They may require price revision due to inflation.

The benefits of SFVs include the following:

- They enhance financial certainty for the utility.
- They reduce the need for frequent rate cases.
- They are easier to administer than LRAMs or decoupling.
- They can enhance utility buildout of programs or technologies that support energy efficiency, conservation, and distribution generation.⁷⁷

Customers have a greater fixed charge under SFV rates than under traditional rates, but their variable charge is smaller and their bill varies less according to usage.

Limitations of SFVs include reduced benefit to low-usage and perhaps low-income ratepayers; non-utility-initiated efficiency projects; and customer-initiated innovations. SFVs also may require price revision due to inflation.

Benefits of SFVs include enhanced financial certainty for utilities; reduced frequency of rate cases; and support for utility-initiated buildout of green technologies.

^c Christensen Associates Energy Consulting suggests, "To the extent that there is a correlation between customer size and customer income, SFV rates could adversely affect-low-income customers."

Which States Use SFVs?

Twenty-two states have implemented SFVs. Kentucky does not have SFVs for any of its utilities. Twenty-two states have implemented SFV for gas utilities, and five states have implemented SFV for electric utilities. Interest in SFV continues to grow; a 2016 report by Synapse shows 34 states plus the District of Columbia have at least requested to recover fixed costs only through fixed charges.⁷⁸ Table 3.4 shows when each state adopted this mechanism. Of the states that border Kentucky, the ones with an SFV mechanism for an electric or natural gas utility are Illinois, Ohio, and Tennessee.

Table 3.4 Straight Fixed-Variable Rates By State And Adoption

State	Utility Sector	Year Adopted
California	Gas	1996
Connecticut	Gas	2007
Florida	Gas	2009
Georgia	Gas	2015
Illinois	Electric and gas	2008
Kansas	Gas	2007
Maine	Gas	2014
Missouri	Gas	2002
Mississippi*	Electric	N/A
North Dakota	Gas	2005
Nebraska	Gas	2012
New Hampshire	Gas	2014
New York	Electric and gas	2010
Ohio	Gas	2008
Oklahoma	Electric and gas	2015 and 2004
Pennsylvania	Gas	2013
Tennessee	Gas	2012
Texas	Gas	2011
Vermont	Gas	N/A
Virginia	Gas	N/A
Wisconsin	Gas	2015
Wyoming	Electric and gas	2009

* Christensen Associates Energy Consulting suggests Mississippi has had a form of straight fixed-variable rate in place for Mississippi Power Co. that has been overtaken by formula rate plans.

Sources: Connecticut. Public Act No. 07-242, An Act Concerning Electricity and Energy Efficiency; Illinois Commerce Commission. Commonwealth Edison Company: Proposed General Increase In Electric Rates, Docket No. 10-0467; New York Public Service Commission. Order Requiring Proposals For Revenue Decoupling Mechanisms, Cases 03-E-0640 and 06-G-0746, April 20, 2007; Wyoming Public Service Commission. Memorandum Opinion, Findings And Order Approving Stipulation, In The Matter Of The Amended Application Of Rocky Mountain Power For Approval Of A General Rate Increase Of Approximately \$28.8 Million Per Year (6.1 Percent Overall Average Increase), Docket No. 20000-333-ER-08 (Record No. 11824), May 20, 2009, p. 21; Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: 2015 Update." Edison Electric Institute, 2015, pp. 29-30.

Has Kentucky Adopted SFVs?

Although the majority of Kentucky's residential gas and electric utilities recover most or all of their customer-related fixed costs through monthly fixed customer or demand charges, the KYPSC states that Kentucky has not authorized an SFV mechanism for electric or natural gas utilities.⁷⁹ The customer charge is the basic fee for the provision of utility service and the demand charge is the monthly cost of maintaining the infrastructure needed to deliver the utility service.

Earning-Sharing Mechanism

Through the ratemaking process, investor-owned utilities are entitled to recover all of their prudently incurred costs for providing utility service and to earn a reasonable, PUC-approved return on equity. Under an ESM, if the actual ROE falls outside of an approved range, a rate change will be triggered outside of the ratemaking process to either collect additional amounts or rebate excess amounts to customers so that the actual ROE falls within the approved range.⁸⁰

What Is The Policy Objective Of ESMs?

ESMs reduce the need for general rate cases by using automatic rate change mechanisms to adjust rates if actual ROEs stray too far from what the PUC has approved. Because they focus on actual earnings, there is no need to track specific costs and revenues under ESMs, which reduces administrative burden.⁸¹

How Do ESMs Work In Practice?

The PUC and the utility set a band above and below the approved ROE. As shown in Figure 3.A, an ESM adopted by the Virginia legislature established a 9.2 percent ROE for its utilities. It also established an earnings band of 70 basis points around the ROE. So, the revenue coming into the utility could be from 8.5 percent to 9.9 percent before triggering a change in the utility's base rate.

An earning-sharing mechanism (ESM) tracks revenues and determines whether they are enough to maintain a certain ROE.

ESMs reduce the risk from changing fiscal circumstances and the rate being charged utility customers.

The regulatory objective of an ESM is the reduction of financial risk, improvement in utility creditworthiness, and the reduction of the number of general rate cases.



Source: LRC staff compilation of data from E9 Insight, "Reward Without Risk: A Look At Imbalances in Virginia's Unique Regulatory Construct, Aug. 2020. pp 4-6.

Within the established range, the utility and its shareholders bear the risk for earnings from 8.5 percent to 9.1 percent; those are the earnings below the approved ROE. The ratepayer bears the risk for earnings from 9.3 percent to 9.9 percent; those are the earnings above the approved ROE. All earnings within the range are kept by the utility.

If ROE falls below 8.5 percent, the base rate is changed to recover 100 percent of the underearnings to bring the ROE back to 9.2 percent. If the utility collects more than 9.2 percent, a sharing formula is triggered. It would appear that the sharing formula allows utility shareholders to retain 30 percent and the ratepayers are refunded 70 percent of the overearnings.⁸² In practice, however, the formula is complicated by offsets for utility investments in utility grid modernization.⁸³

PUC orders from various states show there are often complicated sharing schemes to distribute revenue surpluses or deficits between shareholders and ratepayers. Some ESMs are designed so sharing is done only for overearnings, so that ratepayers are not subject to surcharges as is done when an ESM is symmetric. When the underearnings are not shared, there is usually a price cap or some mechanism that stairsteps the rate increase so it does not occur all at once. An ESM can have an "off-ramp" feature too, which allows the PUC to suspend use of the ARM when the ROE is unusually high or low.

ESMs set a ROE target and upper and lower limits. The rate does not change until it moves outside or the upper or lower limit.

ESMs also have sharing formulas for overearnings and underearning. These formulas can be very complicated.

Limitations of ESMs include the shift of risk from shareholders to ratepayers, less cost control, and difficulty in sharing overearnings.

Benefits of ESMs include lowering the cost of ratemaking, reducing financial risk for the utility, and reducing the time between a rate request and a rate change.

Twenty-five states have adopted ESMs. Most of them also adopt multiyear rate plans (MRPs) or formula rate plans (FRPs). Only five states have adopted an ESM alone.

What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of ESMs?

The limitations of ESMs include the following:

- They shift risk from shareholders to ratepayers.
- They may not induce cost control.
- They can be contrived to make it difficult for ratepayers to share in the overearnings.

The benefits of ESMs include the following:

- They can lower the cost of ratemaking procedures for both utility and regulator.
- They can reduce financial risk to the utility and improve the utility's creditworthiness.
- They can make adjustments more automatic, thereby reducing the time between a rate request and a rate change.⁸⁴

Which States Use ESMs?

Table 3.5 lists the states that have adopted ESMs. It also shows state that have adopted multiyear rate plans and formula rate plans, which are discussed below. The table includes all three ARMs because states often adopt ESMs in conjunction with MRPs or FRPs. Only five states have adopted an ESM without an MRP or FRP: Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, New Mexico, and Rhode Island.

Ctata	ECM	FDD	MDD
State	ESIVI	FKP	MRP
Alabama	✓	1982 electric and gas	—
Arizona	Х	—	2012 electric
Arkansas	\checkmark	2015 electric	—
California	\checkmark	—	1994 electric and gas
Colorado	\checkmark	_	2015 electric and gas
Connecticut	\checkmark	_	2004 electric and gas
Florida	Х	—	2013 electric
Georgia	\checkmark	2012 gas	2014 electric
Hawaii	\checkmark	2021 electric	2012 electric
Illinois	\checkmark	2011 electric; 2021 gas	—
Indiana	\checkmark	—	2015 gas
lowa	\checkmark	—	2014 electric and gas
Louisiana	\checkmark	1996 electric; 2005 gas	2009 electric and gas
Maine	\checkmark	—	2013 gas and electric
Massachusetts	Х	—	2002 gas
Michigan	\checkmark	—	_
Minnesota	\checkmark	—	—
Mississippi	\checkmark	1985 electric; 1990 gas	—
Missouri	\checkmark	—	—
New Hampshire	\checkmark	_	2014 gas; 2010 electric distribution

Table 3.5ESM, FRP, And MRP By State, Sector, And Year

State	ESM	FRP	MRP
New Jersey	\checkmark	—	2021 electric and water
New Mexico	\checkmark	—	—
New York	\checkmark	—	1991 gas; 2010 electric distribution
North Carolina	\checkmark	—	2021 electric and water
North Dakota	\checkmark	_	2013 electric and gas
Ohio	\checkmark	_	2009 electric
Oklahoma	\checkmark	2004 gas	—
Oregon	\checkmark	—	1998 electric distribution
Rhode Island	\checkmark	—	—
South Carolina	\checkmark	2005 gas	—
Vermont	\checkmark		2007 electric
Tennessee	\checkmark	2015 gas	_
Texas	\checkmark	2008 gas	_
Virginia	Х	_	2014 electric
Washington	Х	_	1997 gas and electric

Source: Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: 2015 Update." Edison Electric Institute, 2015 (Table 7 for multiyear rate plans and earning-sharing mechanisms; Table 8 for formula rate plans).

Kentucky has not approved an ESM for a utility outside of a general rate case.

Has Kentucky Adopted ESMs?

The KYPSC reports that it has not approved an ESM for a utility outside of a general rate case proceeding. However, in 2000 the KYPSC allowed Louisville Gas & Electric (LG&E) an optional ESM as an incentive in performance-based ratemaking. The plan set an ROE of 11.5 percent with a range of 100 basis points. If the utility earned outside of the range, then the overearnings were to be shared, with 40 percent to ratepayers and 60 percent to the utility.

The KYPSC terminated the plan in 2004 after an audit showed no difference in LG&E's fiscal profile due to the ESM, which was sufficient for the KYPSC to conclude that it had not been an effective performance incentive. The KYPSC reports that there are other mechanisms that share earnings from the utility's "off-system sales," which are wholesale or retail sales outside the utility's certified territory.

Natural gas utilities have an ESM if they meet or exceed specific benchmarks established by the PSC as performance measures.⁸⁵ Kentucky statutes establish an earning-sharing mechanism for their demand-side management program, but this is different from having an ESM to adjust base rates.

Formula rate plans (FRPs) and multiyear rate plans allow the utility to adjust the base rate beyond a single 12-month period outside of a general rate case.

FRPs and MRPs target the weak incentives that COS ratemaking creates for cost efficiency, innovation, and planning practices.

Regulatory objectives of FRPs and MRPs include reducing regulatory lag, the frequency of rate cases, and ratepayer shock from rate increases.

FRPs and MRPs use a formula to identify whether the utility is generating enough revenue to meet its requirement.

Formula Rate Plans And Multiyear Rate Plans

FRPs and MRPs are two ratemaking methods that allow a utility to adjust its base rate for projected cost growth beyond a single 12-month period without going through a general rate case.

An FRP tracks actual costs and makes an automatic adjustment to the base rate, usually in the form of a tariff rider, to account for utility's revenue needs. The formula is the rate, and the "earning true-up mechanism" is an audit performed by the PUC to keep the revenue on target.

In contrast, an MRP is an "allowance for cost growth rather than a reimbursement for actual growth" in between periodic general rate cases.⁸⁶ Unlike the practice with an FRP, the utility will agree to periodic rate cases, which normally occur every 3 to 5 years. In between rate cases, there is an ESM in place that apportions the overearnings, underearnings, or both between ratepayers and shareholders. MRPs may also include price caps and other performance measures to control costs between rate cases.

What Are The Policy Objectives Of FRPs And MRPs?

MRPs in particular seek to incentivize utilities to act more like competitive firms by including performance incentive mechanisms to provide awards or penalties, or both, for performance in targeted areas. Performance incentive mechanisms are used to incentivize maintenance or improvement of reliability and customer service quality.⁸⁷

FRPs and MRPs aim to reduce regulatory lag and generally reduce the frequency of rate cases by allowing rate adjustments outside of rate case proceedings. Better utility performance can be encouraged due to stronger performance incentives and increased operating flexibility.⁸⁸

How Do FRPs And MRPs Work In Practice?

Both FRP and MRP use an attrition relief mechanism, which is a formula pricing mechanism to calculate whether the utility is generating enough or too much revenue from sales to cover its revenue requirement. Sometimes the attrition relief mechanism is the ESM described above. Other times, it is a custom formula that can include various indices along with cost trackers and other ARMs. Rather than the results of a full cost of service study, either the ROR or the ROE serves as a proxy for the revenue requirement. The PUC and the utility use the attrition relief mechanism along with various indices and detailed forecasts to determine whether projected or actual revenue will satisfy the PUC's approved ROR or ROE.

FRPs or MRPs may add other ARMs to the plan, such as ESMs, cost trackers, and revenue decoupling. Both FRPs and MRPs require some use of FTYs in order to create detailed revenue and cost forecasts. There are also monitoring and reporting requirements.

What Are The Limitations And Benefits Of FRPs And MRPs?

The limitations of FRPs and MRPs include the following:

- Both plans shift financial risk from the utility to the ratepayer.
- Both plans reduce the incentive to control costs and eventually pass on those increases to the ratepayer.
- There is less transparency compared to COS, due to reduced PUC oversight.

The benefits of FRPs and MRPs include the following:

- Both plans reduce the frequency and cost of rate cases to both utilities and PUCs.
- Both plans reduce the financial risk to the utility and improve access to capital.
- Utilities and PUCs can negotiate the specifics of the ESMs to address ratepayer needs, utility needs, and PUC concerns.
- Rates better reflect changes in current market conditions for commodities.
- They reduce rate shock to the ratepayer.

Which States Use FRPs And MRPs?

Only 11 states, most of which are in the Southeast, have adopted FRPs for their utilities. Most are for natural gas utilities or for those that offer both electric and gas. That is because those companies sought to avoid the continuous rate cases that occurred because of declines in the use of natural gas.

Twenty-two states have used MRPs.⁸⁹ Of those 22 states, 16 imposed ESMs. Most distribute some portion of overearnings to both ratepayers and shareholders. Only a few instances of an ESM were found for specific utilities in California, Massachusetts,

Limitations of FRPs and MRPs include shifting financial risk to the ratepayer, reducing incentives for cost control, decreasing transparency, and putting the utility on autopilot.

Benefits of FRPs and MRPs include reducing frequency and cost of general rate cases and financial risk for the utility. ESMs can reflect the needs of the parties to a rate case.

Eleven states, mostly in the southeast, use FRPs.

Twenty-two states have authorized the use of MRPs for their utilities.

and Maine where overearnings were not shared, and those plans have since terminated. Rate caps (which prevented the rate from exceeding a specified limit) and revenue stairsteps (which allowed rates to rise gradually in a stairstep fashion) were also common features of the MRPs examined in this study.

Table 3.5, above, lists the states that use FRPs and MRPs and when those plans were authorized or first adopted by their respective PUCs.

Has Kentucky Adopted An FRP Or MRP?

Kentucky has not adopted either an FRP or an MRP for its utilities. However, a streamlined ratemaking plan was adopted for small natural gas and water utilities with size being measured as less than \$5 million in gross annual revenue. More recently, a similar pilot program was adopted for electric cooperatives to seek small increments in their rates to ensure compliance with loan covenants.⁹⁰ Both of these streamlined ratemaking plans are discussed in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4

Annual Rate Review Mechanisms And Other Regulatory Streamlining Measures

In recent years, several jurisdictions, including Kentucky, have adopted policies to streamline the ratemaking process for at least some regulated utility sectors in order to attempt to reduce the time, expense, and regulatory burden associated with adjusting utility rates only through a conventional rate case proceeding. This chapter discusses recent proposals and adopted policies to implement regular rate adjustments and otherwise streamline the ratemaking process for at least some categories of regulated utilities in Kentucky. Measures adopted in other states to streamline their ratemaking procedures through annual rate review mechanisms are also discussed.

Streamlined Ratemaking Procedures Adopted In Kentucky

Streamlined Ratemaking Procedures For Small Water And Natural Gas Utilities

The Kentucky Public Service Commission has adopted streamlined ratemaking procedures by administrative regulation for small natural gas utilities and water districts organized under KRS Chapter 74.⁹¹ To be eligible for these procedures, a natural gas utility or water district must have generated less than \$5 million in gross revenue for the previous year, maintained separate recordkeeping from commonly owned enterprises, and filed complete annual reports with the KYPSC for the previous 2 years.

Due to their governance or their size, small water districts and natural gas utilities tend to be reluctant to request rate increases from the KYPSC until they have already begun to experience financial difficulties, service problems, or both. Furthermore, small water districts and natural gas utilities can have the additional challenges of lacking the technical expertise and resources to complete the extensive filing and procedural requirements of a full ratemaking proceeding, which can also lead to further rate filing procrastination. To address these issues, in addition to shortening and simplifying the ratemaking process, the alternative rate adjustment procedure allows eligible water districts and natural gas utilities to use KYPSC staff to assist with

The KYPSC has approved streamlined ratemaking processes for certain regulated utility sectors to encourage timelier rate filings. preparing and filing the necessary documentation to complete the rate proceeding.⁹²

Streamlined Ratemaking For Electric Distribution Cooperatives

Following a series of meetings with stakeholder groups throughout 2017 and 2018, the KYPSC issued an order, which was finalized in 2019, to streamline certain aspects of the ratemaking process only for regulated electric distribution cooperatives.⁹³ There are 19 KYPSC-regulated electric distribution cooperatives that could be eligible for the streamlined ratemaking process.⁹⁴ To be eligible, a distribution cooperative must have had a base rate increase sometime in the previous 10 years, at least 12 months must have elapsed since its most recent rate base increase, and its cost of service study must be less than 5 years old, among several other requirements. The approved streamlining order for eligible electric distribution cooperatives contained the following key provisions:

- Shortened the rate case processing time—which previously could have taken up to 10 months to complete—to under 75 days
- Limited the maximum requested rate increase to no more than 4 percent and no more than 0.75 percent for each year since the cooperative's last rate adjustment
- Changed the distribution cooperative's notice requirements for customers when seeking a rate change to make providing notice less costly
- Reduced the number of filings that the distribution cooperative would need to make in its streamlined rate case application

The KYPSC also retained the authority to deny an application for streamlined ratemaking and to end the availability of the streamlined ratemaking procedure altogether.

Why Does The Order Apply Only To Electric Distribution

Cooperatives? Electric distribution cooperatives differ from other regulated electric utilities under the commission's jurisdiction in that they are organized as nonprofit businesses that are owned by the members they serve, who live mostly in less densely populated rural or semi-rural areas.⁹⁵ Because they are operated without a profit motive and are under pressure from their member-owners to keep rates as low as possible, electric distribution cooperatives may seek to avoid increasing rates through rate cases for as long as they can. This reluctance to submit to the ratemaking process to increase rates can mean that a cooperative's necessary maintenance and infrastructure investments are deferred to an extent that could

Electric distribution cooperatives can be more reluctant to file rate cases than investor-owned utilities because they are nonprofit business owned by the members they serve.

endanger their financial standing, negatively impact service, or cause a sudden large increase in rates when they finally do undertake a rate case.⁹⁶

With this in mind, the KYPSC issued the streamlined ratemaking order to reduce some of the administrative burden of filing a rate case for electric distribution cooperatives and to help simplify and reduce the costs of their ratepayer notification requirements, which are some of their largest expenses for rate cases. By removing some of the administrative impediments and costs of the ratemaking process, the KYPSC hoped that electric distribution cooperatives would be less reluctant to file rate cases in a timely manner. ⁹⁷ Appropriately timed rate case filings could help ensure their financial soundness, maintain reliable service to their ratepayers, and reduce the risk of sudden large rate increases.

Proposed Streamlined Ratemaking Procedures In Kentucky

There have been several proposals in recent years to streamline aspects of the ratemaking process for additional regulated utility sectors outside of electric distribution cooperatives and small water districts and natural gas utilities. Different proposals have been made to both the Public Service Commission and the General Assembly, but they have not been adopted.

Annual Review Mechanisms

In 2017, Atmos Energy Corporation, an investor-owned gas distribution company that serves approximately 176,000 customers in western and central Kentucky, proposed as part of its rate adjustment application to implement a streamlined mechanism to allow for annual rate adjustments based on filings that would be reviewed and approved by the KYPSC each year.⁹⁸ The proposed annual review mechanism would be similar to one adopted by the Tennessee Public Utility Commission (TPUC) for Atmos's operations in that state, as discussed below.

In support of its proposal, Atmos argued that an annual review mechanism would create a more efficient and less costly process to review rates annually, resulting in customer rates that more accurately reflect current costs. Atmos proposed to make annual filings on projected revenue requirements for the coming test year by December 1 of each year, with rates becoming effective on April 1 of the following year. To ensure that actual revenues and costs matched what were projected, an annual reconciliation filing

The KYPSC rejected a 2017 proposal from an investorowned gas distribution company to implement a type of annual rate review mechanism similar to what has been adopted in Tennessee. would be submitted to remedy any discrepancies. Atmos argued that data it submitted from other jurisdictions where it operated, where similar annual rate review mechanisms had been adopted, demonstrated the accuracy and efficiency of the process.⁹⁹

The Kentucky Attorney General's Office of Rate Intervention opposed the plan, citing the following reasons:

- It was not necessary to achieve annual or more frequent rate increases.
- It was not necessary to reduce the length of time required to prepare and conduct a rate case and receive a regulatory decision, since Atmos could already use a forecasted test year in determining its revenue requirement and costs.
- More frequent rate increases without the traditional rate case process review could harm ratepayers.
- There was not sufficient evidence to conclude that an annual review mechanism would result in a reduction in ratemaking costs that would be passed on to ratepayers.
- Atmos's incentive to exercise management control and maintain its authorized return between rate cases would be removed.

In response to these objections, Atmos maintained that the annual review mechanism would provide adequate regulatory oversight of its expenses and investments. The annual review and reconciliation process conducted by the KYPSC and third parties such as the attorney general would ensure frequent review of costs and revenues. To address the concern that the proposed annual review mechanism would result in decreased oversight compared to the traditional ratemaking process, Atmos offered to amend its proposed process to develop a procedural schedule for each filing, which would include multiple rounds of discovery and the opportunity for intervenor testimony.

The KYPSC ultimately rejected the proposed annual review mechanism. While not necessarily finding that it lacked statutory authority to implement the plan, the KYPSC noted that the current ratemaking process aligned with the current statutes and regulations, ensured that the public interest was served, and was fair to Atmos and its shareholders. The KYPSC was not persuaded by the fact that the process had been adopted in other jurisdictions, and it was skeptical that there was any clear benefit in the plan for ratepayers, other than a decrease in regulatory expense and a predictable annual increase in rates. The KYPSC further expressed concern that if all of the other regulated gas, electric, water, and sewer utilities requested and were approved for similar plans, there

would be little saved administrative resources by the commission, its staff, or intervenors.¹⁰⁰

2022 House Bill 341

Although withdrawn before being taken up for consideration during the 2022 Regular Session of the General Assembly, HB 341 proposed significant streamlining of the ratemaking process for electric, water, and natural gas utilities regulated by the KYPSC. The bill proposed changing the ratemaking process for an eligible utility that had gone through a traditional rate proceeding within the previous 5 years by

- allowing for more publication options for giving public notice of a rate increase request, which would include but no longer require publication of the notices in local newspapers;
- reducing the amount of time for outside parties to intervene in rate increase requests and limiting the number of information requests that the intervenors and KYPSC staff could make;
- allowing the utility to request evidentiary hearings only where all sides can present expert testimony and data while under oath;
- reducing the number of public hearings needed during a rate proceeding to one for every 250,000 utility customers;
- requiring the KYPSC to review and approve rate increases within 120 days of receiving a streamlined ratemaking application so that the utility can earn the authorized rate of return on equity established in its most recent full rate case; and
- requiring the KYPSC to approve riders (adjustments added between general rate cases) for infrastructure improvements, pipeline replacement and safety modifications, enhancements in safety system and reliability, and economic development initiatives, among other things.

Prior to the withdrawal of HB 341, opponents argued that it would do too much to undermine the ability of the KYSPC and intervening parties to scrutinize and challenge the bases for rate increases requested by utilities during the ratemaking process.¹⁰¹

Annual Rate Review Mechanisms Adopted In Other States

Several southeastern states have adopted procedures that allow eligible utilities to make more regular adjustments to their rates based on annual filings of their actual expenses and revenues. Their experiences could be useful in understanding the impact

2022 HB 341 proposed significant changes to the ratemaking process for electric, natural gas, and water utilities regulated by the KYPSC. of adopting streamlined ratemaking procedures in Kentucky on utilities, ratepayers, and the commission.

Tennessee

In 2013, Tennessee adopted a statutory framework to allow its Public Utility Commission to implement a variety of alternative regulatory methods in lieu of general rate case proceedings, including allowing utilities to file for annual reviews of their rates based upon the methodologies in their most recent rate cases.¹⁰² Because the annual rate review procedure was not established in statute, the TPUC worked with stakeholder groups to adopt procedural, documentation, and filing requirements to implement an annual rate review process that streamlined the ratemaking process while maintaining intervenor rights, public hearings, full discovery, and the taking of sworn testimony.¹⁰³

All public utilities, except market-regulated telecommunications carriers, are eligible for annual rate reviews as long as they have engaged in a general rate case in the past 5 years. The TPUC is required to review an annual filing within 120 days of receipt and to order the public utility to make the adjustments to its tariff rates to provide that the public utility earns the authorized return on equity established in the public utility's most recent general rate case. As part of its filings for an annual rate review application, the TPUC also requires a utility to file an annual revenue reconciliation, which compares the actual adjusted cost of service from the just-completed historic test period with the actual, adjusted gross margin from the same period to true up any discrepancies between the forecasted and actual costs of service for the year. Public utilities and the TPUC have the ability to terminate or modify approved annual review plans.

Several regulated utilities in Tennessee that have used the annual rate review process view its adoption and implementation as a success.¹⁰⁴ They believe that adopting annual rate reviews has alleviated some of the administrative burden on the TPUC and has created a transparent, collaborative process that saves the regulated utilities and their ratepayers money through reduced legal fees and reduced costs of capital compared to the other states in which they operate that have not adopted annual rate mechanisms. However, as discussed above, the KYPSC was skeptical of these purported benefits when it considered a similar annual rate review mechanism proposal by Atmos in 2017.

Tennessee's annual rate review mechanism was authorized by statute, but the Tennessee Public Utility Commission worked with utilities and stakeholder groups to implement the requirements of the process.

Alabama

In 1982, Alabama adopted a formula rate plan called the rate stabilization and equalization (RSE) plan, which significantly streamlined the ratemaking process, first for its regulated electric utilities and later for others. Under RSE, the Alabama Public Service Commission (APSC) annually reviews a utility's expected return on equity, compares it to the authorized range, and then adjusts base revenues and rates if necessary, to keep the return on equity within that range. The RSE limits the maximum annual rate increase to 5 percent, and the average of two consecutive annual increases to not more than 4 percent, which has the intended effect of smoothing the rate increases.¹⁰⁵

Unlike a traditional ratemaking proceeding, there are no evidentiary hearings, and there is otherwise little public or intervenor involvement. The utility must submit to an informal hearing where it must answer questions posed by the APSC, its staff, or other interested parties, but there is no opportunity to submit discovery questions or to file sworn expert testimony.¹⁰⁶ The result is a ratemaking process that differs significantly from the current one in Kentucky, which relies on adversarial parties challenging each other's claims to develop a record on which the KYPSC can make its determinations.

Support For RSE. Alabama's regulated utilities and other proponents of RSE contend that it is superior to traditional ratemaking for the following reasons:

- Increased Frequency Of Cost Review. A public service commission would normally conduct an in-depth examination of costs only on a sporadic basis as part of a rate case, but under RSE, the commission examines cost components both in the context of the annual test of the projected return on equity as well as on an ongoing basis throughout the year when it is checking cost benchmarks against those of other utilities.
- **Rate Smoothing**. Under traditional ratemaking, rates may be adjusted infrequently and the rate applications may reflect a backlog of cost pressures. As a result, in an environment of rising unit costs, infrequent rate adjustment can produce large rate increases that ratepayers do not expect.
- **Reduction In Regulatory Lag**. The length of time required to prepare and conduct a rate case and receive a regulatory decision means the costs being recovered in the new rates typically are out of date, although this danger is mitigated in Kentucky by using a hybrid historic/future test year, as

Alabama's rate stabilization and equalization plan provides for only minimal public or intervenor involvement. discussed in more detail in Chapter 3. To the extent that regulatory lag can be further reduced, it could lead to a more stable financial performance by the utility, which in turn supports better credit ratings and access to capital on the most reasonable terms possible.¹⁰⁷

RSE proponents further argue that the results speak for themselves. Since its adoption, RSE has produced 12 upward adjustments, 3 downward adjustments, and 15 nonadjustments.¹⁰⁸ During that time, Alabama electric utility rates have been on average 14 percent below the national average, there have been very few customer complaints regarding service or rates, and in terms of total system performance, Alabama's largest electric utility has a reliability rate of 99.9 percent.¹⁰⁹

Opposition To RSE. Opponents of RSE argue that circumstances have changed substantially since the years leading to the adoption of RSE in 1982, when demand for electricity was growing at a rate of 8 percent per year, overall inflation peaked at 13.5 percent in 1980, and utility financing costs were very high, with 10-year Treasury yields on the order of 10 percent and higher.¹¹⁰ It was under those circumstances, and under an order from the Alabama Supreme Court to set rates that allow for more reasonable returns on investment for its electric utilities, that the Alabama Public Service Commission adopted the RSE for its largest electric utility, Alabama Power.¹¹¹ In order to address the growing financial pressures and falling creditworthiness of Alabama Power, the APSC adopted the RSE to ensure more regular and certain rate increases for the utility and to reduce the time and expense of regular rate proceeding, which came at the cost of public involvement and scrutiny.

Since that time, demand for electricity has fallen, inflation is lower, and utility financing costs have decreased. RSE detractors argue that current conditions no longer justify the lack of transparency in the ratemaking process for how the APSC balances the interests of ratepayers against those of the utilities and their shareholders.¹¹² Through RSE, the APSC allows Alabama Power to earn a return of 13.0 percent to 14.5 percent on common equity investment, which is significantly higher than the returns other utility companies earn.¹¹³ For example, the 13.3 percent average return on equity that Alabama Power earned from 2008 to 2011 was more than 40 percent higher than the average of 9.4 percent earned by 76 other domestic US utility operating companies, and its return on total capitalization during

these 4 years was 30 percent higher than the average return of the 76 other utility operating companies.¹¹⁴

Mississippi

In 1986, Mississippi adopted an annually reviewed formula rate plan for Mississippi Power Company, and in 1992 extended it to Entergy Mississippi.¹¹⁵ Both plans use set formulas to adjust base rates between rate cases in response to changes in economy-wide inflation rates, overall economic activity, and utility costs. Near the end of each year, the utilities file updates to their plans for the coming year, which determines whether rates need to be changed to be within 0.5 percent of the return on equity targets. The returns on equity targets are adjusted for each utility's performance rating, which is based on three performance metrics:

- the utility's average retail electricity price relative to other comparable investor-owned utilities in the Southeast;
- the result of the average of the two most recent customer satisfaction surveys conducted by independent professional survey firms; and
- service reliability as measured by the percentage of time that service was available to customers during the previous 36 months.¹¹⁶

Unlike in Alabama, public hearings are held, but only for major changes to rates. Statute defines *major rate change* as either

- a change in rates that would increase the annual revenues of the public utility by more than \$100,000 or 2 percent, or
- a change in the rate design that has a significant impact on a class or classes of ratepayers.¹¹⁷

Under Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) rules, any person may be permitted to intervene in a rate proceeding when the person has a substantial interest to be protected relating to the property, transaction, or outcome of the proceeding at issue.¹¹⁸ A public witness who has not been permitted to intervene in a rate proceeding cannot examine witnesses or otherwise participate in the proceedings, but the MPSC may allow public witnesses to introduce evidence at a hearing by written or oral statements and exhibits.¹¹⁹

Utilities must annually submit calculations of their actual returns on equity for the preceding year, and if the actual returns deviate by more than 0.50 percent from the targets, the utilities must either refund the amount to current customers or change current customer rates to bring the actual returns within 0.50 percent of the targets.

Mississippi's annual rate review plan allows public hearings, but only for major rate changes. However, the revenue adjustment for the prior year plus any other revenue adjustment for the same prior year cannot exceed 4 percent of the utility's annual aggregate retail revenues for that prior year.¹²⁰

South Carolina

In 2005, South Carolina passed the Natural Gas Rate Stabilization Act to create an annual rate review mechanism for natural gas utilities regulated by the South Carolina Public Service Commission (SCPSC). To be eligible, a regulated natural gas utility must have had a general rate case in the previous 5 years.¹²¹ Eligible regulated natural gas utilities submit annual monitoring reports detailing their actual operating and maintenance costs, all of their rate base input components, and all other components of income for return on equity.¹²² If the information submitted in the report shows that a natural gas utility's actual return on equity is 0.5 percent more or less than what the SCPSC has authorized, then the utility is eligible for a rate adjustment, and the report is audited by SCPSC staff for accuracy. Interested parties may submit written comments only in response to a utility's monitoring report and the SCPSC's staff audit.¹²³

If the staff audit does not find deficiencies in the utility's submitted report, the SCPSC issues an initial order making the required adjustment to the utility's rates. An aggrieved party may, within 30 days of the issuance of the initial order, petition the SCPSC to review the order. After the petition is received, all interested parties of record are given the opportunity to be heard at an evidentiary hearing on the matter. After the evidentiary hearing is held, the SCPSC issues a final order.

South Carolina's annual rate review mechanism allows for only limited public or intervenor participation until it issues an initial order for a rate change, after which aggrieved parties can appeal the decision and an evidentiary hearing is held.

Appendix A

Comprehensive Table Of States That Authorized ARMs

ARM Adoption Or Authorization By State For Electric, Natural Gas, Or Water Utilities

Alabama Y Y Y Y Y Alaska Y Y Y Y Arkansas Y Y Y Y Y Arkansas Y Y Y Y Y California Y Y Y Y Y California Y Y Y Y Y Connecticut Y Y Y Y Y Pelaware Y Y Y Y Y Pelaware Y Y Y Y Y Havaii Y Y Y Y Y Idaho Y Y Y Y Y Idaho Y Y Y Y Y Idaho Y Y Y Y Y Imiana Y Y Y Y Y Imiana Y Y Y Y Y Idaho Y Y Y Y Y Imiana Y Y Y Y Y Imiana Y Y Y Y Y Marsas Y Y	State	LRAM	RDM	СТК	FTY	FRP	MRP	SFV	ESM
Alaska / / / / Arkansas / / / / / California / / / / / / California / / / / / / / Colorado / / / / / / / / Connecticut / / / / / / / / / Delaware /	Alabama		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
Arizona · </td <td>Alaska</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Alaska			\checkmark					
Arkansas * * * * * * * California * * * * * * * Colorado * * * * * * * Connecticut * * * * * * * Delaware * * * * * * * Florida * * * * * * * Georgia * * * * * * * Idaho * * * * * * * Illinois * * * * * * * Louisiana * * </td <td>Arizona</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>✓</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>✓</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Arizona	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓			✓		
California ·	Arkansas	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
Colorado ·<	California	✓	\checkmark	✓	✓		✓	✓	✓
Connecticut · <th< td=""><td>Colorado</td><td>\checkmark</td><td>\checkmark</td><td>\checkmark</td><td>\checkmark</td><td></td><td>\checkmark</td><td></td><td>\checkmark</td></th<>	Colorado	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
Delaware V<	Connecticut	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
Honda V <td>Delaware</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Delaware	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Georgia ✓ </td <td>Florida</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>✓</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td></td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>✓</td> <td></td>	Florida			✓	\checkmark		\checkmark	✓	
Aawaii · <td>Georgia</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td></td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td>	Georgia	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Idaho ✓	Hawaii		✓	✓	✓	~	✓		✓
Indiana · </td <td>Idabo</td> <td></td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Idabo		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Indiana V V V V Iowa V V V V Kansas V V V V Maine V V V V Mayland V V V V Massachusetts V V V V Minnesota V V V V Mississippi V V V V Mississouri V V V V Newada V V V V Newada V V V V New Hampshire V V V V New Hampshire V V V V New Mexico V V V V North Carolina V V V V North Dakota V V V V Oregon V V V V <td>Illinois</td> <td></td> <td>✓</td> <td>✓</td> <td>✓</td> <td>✓</td> <td></td> <td>✓</td> <td>✓</td>	Illinois		✓	✓	✓	✓		✓	✓
Iowana ✓ <td>Indiana</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td></td> <td>\checkmark</td> <td></td> <td>\checkmark</td>	Indiana	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
Iowa V V V V Kansas V V V V Kentucky V V V V Louisiana V V V V Maine V V V V Maryland V V V V Maryland V V V V Massachusetts V V V V Mississippi V V V V Minnesota V V V V Missouri V V V V Montana V V V V Nebraska V V V V Newda V V V V Newdasco V V V V North Carolina V V V V North Dakota V V V V Ohigo V V V V V Oklahoma V V V V V South Carolina V V V V South Dakota V V				· ·			· ·		
Kartucky V V V V Kentucky V V V V V Maine V V V V V V Maryland V V V V V V V Maryland V V V V V V V V Maryland V	IOwa	\checkmark	✓	· ·				\checkmark	
Louisiana V V V V V Maine V V V V V Maryland V V V V V Massachusetts V V V V V Michigan V V V V V Minnesota V V V V V Mississippi V V V V V Missouri V V V V V V Netraska V V V V V V V Nevada V V V V V V V V New Jersey V	Karisas	, ,	•	· √	1			•	
Maine · <td>Кепциску</td> <td>·</td> <td></td> <td>·</td> <td>·</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>1</td>	Кепциску	·		·	·	1	1		1
Mane V V V V V Maryland ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Massachusetts ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Michigan ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Mississispipi ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Mississispipi ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Montana ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Nebraska ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Nevada ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ New Jersey ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ New York ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ North Carolina ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ North Dakota ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Ohio ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ North Dakota ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ Ohio ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ North Dakota ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ South Carolina ✓ ✓<	Louisiana	v	-	•	•	·	•		•
Maryland V V V Massachusetts V V V Michigan V V V V Minnesota V V V V Mississispi V V V V Mississispi V V V V Missouri V V V V Montana V V V V Nebraska V V V V Nevada V V V V New Hampshire V V V V New Hexico V V V V New York V V V V North Carolina V V V V North Dakota V V V V Ohio V V V V V Oregon V V V V V South Carolina V V V V V South Carolina V V V V V	Maine		•	•	•		v	v	v
Massachusetts V V V V V Michigan V V V V V V Minnesota V V V V V V V Mississippi V V V V V V V V Mississippi V V V V V V V V Mississippi V V V V V V V V Montana V V V V V V V V V Nebraska V V V V V V V V V V New Ada V V V V V V V V V V V New Hampshire V <td>Maryland</td> <td></td> <td>•</td> <td>•</td> <td>v</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Maryland		•	•	v				
Michigan V V V Minnesota V V V Mississippi V V V V Missouri V V V V Montana V V V V Nebraska V V V V Nevada V V V V New Hampshire V V V V New Harsey V V V V New Harsey V V V V New Harsey V V V V New Mexico V V V V New York V V V V North Carolina V V V V North Dakota V V V V Ohio V V V V Ohtioa V V V V Pennsylvania V V V V South Carolina V V V V South Dakota V V V V	Massachusetts	v	•	•	1		v		/
Minnesota V V V Mississippi V V V V V Missouri V V V V V V Missouri V V V V V V V Montana V V V V V V V Nebraska V V V V V V V V Newda V V V V V V V V V Newda V	Michigan		•	•	v				v
MississippiVVVVVVVVMissouriVVVVVVVMontanaVVVVVVVNebraskaVVVVVVVNevadaVVVVVVVNew HampshireVVVVVVVNew JerseyVVVVVVVNew MexicoVVVVVVVNorth CarolinaVVVVVVVNorth DakotaVVVVVVVOklahomaVVVVVVVRhode IslandVVVVVVVSouth CarolinaVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVTennesseeVVVV <td< td=""><td>Minnesota</td><td>1</td><td>√</td><td>√</td><td>v</td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>1</td></td<>	Minnesota	1	√	√	v			1	1
Missouri V V V V V Montana V	Mississippi	v	✓	v	~	✓		v	v
MontanaVVVNebraskaVVVNevadaVVVVNew HampshireVVVVNew JerseyVVVVVNew MexicoVVVVVNew YorkVVVVVNorth CarolinaVVVVVNorth DakotaVVVVVOklahomaVVVVVPennsylvaniaVVVVVSouth CarolinaVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVTennesseeVVVVV	Missouri	✓	,	~	~			~	~
NebraskaVVVNevadaVVVVNew HampshireVVVVVNew JerseyVVVVVNew MexicoVVVVVNew YorkVVVVVNorth CarolinaVVVVVNorth DakotaVVVVVOklahomaVVVVVOregonVVVVVPennsylvaniaVVVVVSouth CarolinaVVVVVSouth DakotaVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVTennesseeVVVVV	Montana	~	~	~					
NevadaVVNew HampshireVVVVVNew JerseyVVVVVVNew MexicoVVVVVVNew YorkVVVVVVNorth CarolinaVVVVVVNorth DakotaVVVVVVOklahomaVVVVVVOregonVVVVVVRhode IslandVVVVVVSouth CarolinaVVVVVFennesseeVVVVV	Nebraska			√				✓	
New HampshireVVVVVVNew JerseyVVVVVVVNew MexicoVVVVVVVNew YorkVVVVVVVNorth CarolinaVVVVVVVNorth DakotaVVVVVVVOhioVVVVVVVOklahomaVVVVVVVPennsylvaniaVVVVVVVSouth CarolinaVVVVVVVTennesseeVVVVVVV	Nevada	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark					
New JerseyVVVVVNew MexicoVVVVVNew YorkVVVVVNorth CarolinaVVVVVNorth DakotaVVVVVOhioVVVVVOklahomaVVVVVOregonVVVVVPennsylvaniaVVVVSouth CarolinaVVVVTennesseeVVVV	New Hampshire	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
New MexicoImage: second se	New Jersey	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
New YorkImage: square squa	New Mexico		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
North Carolina Image: scalar scal	New York		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
North DakotaImage: scalar	North Carolina	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark
Ohio Image: square sq	North Dakota			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Oklahoma Image: constraint of the system o	Ohio	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Oregon Image: wide wide wide wide wide wide wide wide	Oklahoma	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Pennsylvania V V V Rhode Island V V V South Carolina V V V South Dakota V V Tennessee V V	Oregon		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
Rhode Island South Carolina ✓ South Dakota ✓ Tennessee	Pennsylvania		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	
South Carolina V V V V South Dakota V V V V	Rhode Island		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
South Dakota V Tennessee V V V V	South Carolina	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark
Tennessee	South Dakota	\checkmark		~					
	Tennessee			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	
lexas v v v	Texas			✓		~		✓	~
Utah $\checkmark \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark$	Utah	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Vermont \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark	Vermont	~	~	✓			~	✓	~

State	LRAM	RDM	СТК	FTY	FRP	MRP	SFV	ESM
Virginia	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	
Washington		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		
West Virginia			\checkmark					
Wisconsin			\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	
Wyoming		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	

Note: LRAM = lost revenue adjustment mechanism; RDM = revenue decoupling mechanism; CTK = cost tracker;

FTY = future test year; FRP = formula rate plan; MRP = multiyear rate plan; SFV = straight fixed-variable rate; and ESM = earning-sharing mechanism.

Source: Compiled by LRC staff.

Appendix B

Abbreviations And Acronyms

APSC—Alabama Public Service Commission

A governmental administrative body, located in Alabama, which regulates the rates and terms of service for public utilities under its jurisdiction.

ARM—Alternative Rate Mechanism

Any change to traditional cost of service ratemaking that has been adopted by a state to accomplish a specific policy goal.

COS—Cost Of Service

Cost of service is used in this study to refer to the traditional ratemaking process, which entails the regulator determining the regulated utility's total revenue requirement (its costs of service) plus a reasonable return on investment, then allocating a rate to each customer class the utility serves to achieve the required revenue.

DSM—Demand-Side Management

The most common LRAMs include programs such as demand-side management, which pays ratepayers to reduce their usage during peak demand when the supply of the service is constrained.

ESM—Earning-Sharing Mechanism

An ARM under which, when the ROE is above or below a set amount, the utility must collect additional amounts or make refunds to ratepayers. Often used in collaboration with other ARMs.

FRP—Formula Rate Plan

An ARM that allows a utility to adjust the base rate for projected cost growth beyond a single 12-month period without going through a general rate case, and which tracks actual costs and makes automatic adjustment to the base rate by utilizing a predetermined formula.

FTY—Future Test Year

An ARM type that forecasts future anticipated revenues and costs for 12 months after the new rate is in effect.

GDP—Gross Domestic Product

The total value of goods produced and services provided in a country during a year.

HTY—Historic Test Year

An ARM type that looks at actual revenues and costs for 12 months prior to the new rate.

KYPSC—Kentucky Public Service Commission

A governmental administrative body, empowered by the Kentucky General Assembly, to regulate the rates and terms of service for public utilities under its jurisdiction. Also referred to as "the commission."

LG&E—Louisville Gas & Electric

A utilities company based in Louisville, and a subsidiary of PPL Corp.

LRAM—Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanism

An ARM that seeks to eliminate disincentive for efficiency and conservation, promote renewable resources, and optimize usage of utility service during nonpeak hours by lessening the direct impact of utility sales and infrastructure buildout on the utility's profit margin.

MPSC—Mississippi Public Service Commission

A governmental administrative body, located in Mississippi, that regulates the rates and terms of service for public utilities under its jurisdiction.

MRP-Multiyear Rate Plan

An ARM that allows a utility to adjust the base rate for projected cost growth beyond a single 12-month period without going through a general rate case, and under which periodic rate cases occur every 3 to 5 years. MRPs may also include price caps and other performance measures.

PUC—Public Utility Commission

A governmental administrative body in a state other than Kentucky that is empowered to regulate the rates and terms of service for public utilities under its jurisdiction.

RDM—Revenue Decoupling

An adjustable price mechanism with the goal of eliminating the disincentive for energy efficiency, that makes revenues and profits independent of sales volume through an adjustable variable distribution rate.

ROE—Return On Equity

The measure of a company's net income divided by its shareholders' equity.

ROR—Rate Of Return

The net gain or loss of an investment over a specified time period, expressed as a percentage of the investment's initial cost.

RSE—Rate Stabilization And Equalization

A type of formula rate plan under which a public utility commission reviews a utility's expected return on equity, compares it to the authorized range, and then adjusts base revenues and rates to keep the return on equity within that range if necessary.

SCPSC—South Carolina Public Service Commission

A governmental administrative body, located in South Carolina, that regulates the rates and terms of service for public utilities under its jurisdiction.

SFV—Straight Fixed-Variable

An ARM with the goal of eliminating the disincentive for energy efficiency that makes revenues and profits independent of sales volume by recovering all a utility's fixed costs through customers' fixed rates.

TPUC—Tennessee Public Utility Commission

A governmental administrative body, located in Tennessee, that regulates the rates and terms of service for public utilities under its jurisdiction.

Appendix C

		Authorizing Memorandum	
S Pri N J M M	SENATE MEMBERS Robert Stivers esident, LRC Co-Ch David Givens esident Pro Tempo Damon Thayer Algority Floor Leade Morgan McGarvey dinority Floor Leade Morgan McGarvey dinority Floor Leade Julie Raque Adams digority Caucus Cha Milee Wilson Majority Whip Dennis Parrett Minority Whip	eir re LEGISLATIVE RESEARCH COMMISSION State Capitol 700 Capital Avenue Frankfort KY 40601 502-564-8100 Capitol Fax 502-564-2922 Annex Fax 502-564-6543 legislature ky.gov Jay D. Hartz Director	HOUSE MEMBERS David W. Osborne Speaker, LRC Co-Chair David Meade Speaker Pro Tempore Steven Rudy Majority Floor Leader Joni L. Jenkins Minority Floor Leader Suzame Miles Majority Caucus Chair Derrick Graham Minority Caucus Chair Chad McCoy Majority Whip Angle Hatton Minority Whip
	TO: FROM:	Jay D. Hartz, Director Senate President Robert Stivers	
	DATE:	April 13, 2022	
	RE:	ARM Study	
	Utility infi Public Ser serve to ex governmen The creati cumberson Commissi promote th the econor	rastructure modernization and investment requires statutory reforms t vice Commission's processes for recovery of legitimately incurred co cpedite investment of public and private capital in Kentucky infrastru nt more efficient, and protect customers from rate shock. on of an alternative rate mechanism (ARM) has the potential to strear me and inefficient ratemaking process and reduce costs to the Public's on, the commission staff, interveners, and utility customers while com he safety, reliability, and resiliency of Kentucky's energy infrastructur nic development of the Commonwealth.	to improve the osts, which will cture, make mline a Service attinuing to re and enhance
	Therefore, nonpartisa for, and be Commissi	the Director of the Legislative Research Commission is directed to a n staff to conduct a study during the 2022 Interim examining the cost enefits of implementing an ARM for public utilities regulated by the I on.	ssign appropriate ts, mechanisms Public Service
	The study length of t produced j infrastruct	shall examine states that currently utilize ARMs, including the mech- ime those mechanisms have been in place, and whether those mechan just and reasonable rates, promoted the safety, reliability, and resilien ure, and enhanced the economic development opportunities in those s	anisms used, the nisms have cy of energy states.
	The final r than Nove	report of the study shall be submitted to the Legislative Research Con mber 1, 2022.	nmission no later
172			

Endnotes

¹ Kentucky. Senate President Robert Stivers and House Speaker David Osborne. Memorandum to Jay D. Hartz. April 13, 2022.

² Kentucky. Public Service Commission. About The Public Service Commission. Oct. 4, 2022. Web.

³ Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Meeting of the Interim Joint Committee on Natural Resources and Energy. Frankfort, June 9, 2022. Testimony.

⁴ Leonard S. Hyman. *America's Electric Utilities: Past, Present, And Future,* 3rd ed. Public Utilities Reports Inc., 1988, pp. 118-125.

⁵ James C. Bonbright, Albert L. Danielsen, and David R. Kamerschen. *Principles Of Public Utility Rates*, 2nd ed. Public Utilities Reports Inc., 1988, pp. 6-25. Also see James E. Suelflow. *Public Utility Accounting: Theory And Application*. Board of Trustees Michigan State University, 1973. Web.

⁶ Karen Wilson, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Economic Basis For Public Utility Regulation. Email to Stefan Kasacavage, July 5, 2022.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Darryl Tietjen. "Tariff Development I: The Basic Ratemaking Process." National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners. Feb. 14, 2008. Web.

⁹ Lawrence D. Kirsch and Matthew J. Morey. *Alternative Electricity Ratemaking Mechanisms Adopted By Other States*. Christensen Associates Energy Consulting, May 25, 2016. Web.

¹⁰ Linda Bridwell, executive director, and Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Stefan Kasacavage, Oct. 12, 2022.

¹¹ Kentucky. Public Service Commission. "Ratemaking 101." Meeting of the Interim Joint Committee on Natural Resources and Energy. Frankfort, Aug. 20, 2019. Presentation. Web.

¹² Kentucky. Public Service Commission. Utility Ratemaking: The Kentucky PSC Process, Feb. 2020. Web.

¹³ 807 KAR 5:056.

¹⁴ KRS 278.183.

¹⁵ KRS 278.285.

¹⁶ Ibid.

¹⁷ Linda Bridwell, executive director, and Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Stefan Kasacavage, Oct. 12, 2022.

¹⁸ Ibid.

¹⁹ Ibid.

²⁰ David Magnus Boonin. A Rate Design To Encourage Energy Efficiency And Reduce Revenue Requirements. National Regulatory Research Institute, July 2008. Web.

²¹ Kentucky. Public Service Commission. Utility Ratemaking: The Kentucky PSC Process, Feb. 2020. Web.

²² Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022.

²³ Lawrence D. Kirsch and Matthew J. Morey. Alternative Electricity Ratemaking Mechanisms Adopted By Other

States. Christensen Associates Energy Consulting, May 25, 2016, p. 6. Web.

²⁴ Ibid.

²⁵ US. Energy Information Agency. Monthly Energy Review September 2022, p. 18. Web.

²⁶ US. Energy Information Agency. Monthly Energy Review September 2022. Web.

²⁷ Midcontinent Independent System Operator. Grid Reliability And Summer Energy Demand. Meeting of the

Interim Joint Committee on Natural Resources and Energy. Frankfort, July 7, 2022. Presentation. Web.

²⁸ Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014.

²⁹ Guidehouse. "Electric Regulation For A Customer-Centric Future: Survey Of Alternative Regulatory Mechanisms." Edison Electric Institute, 2020, p. 7. Web.

³⁰ Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014, pp. 31-55.

³¹ Ibid., p. 32.

³² Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: 2015 Update." Edison Electric Institute, 2015, pp. 6-7.

³³ S&P Global Market Intelligence. "RRA Regulatory Focus: Adjustment Clauses: A State-By-State Overview." Sept. 12, 2017. Web.

³⁴ Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: An Updated Survey." Edison Electric Institute, Jan. 2013. ³⁵ Ken Costello. "The Two Sides Of Cost Trackers: Why Regulators Must Consider Both." National Regulatory Research Institute, Oct. 27, 2009. Teleseminar. Web. ³⁶ Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014, pp. 52-53. Also see Ken Costello. "Future Test Years: Evidence From State Utility Commissions." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 13-10. Oct. 2013. ³⁷ S&P Global Market Intelligence. "RRA Regulatory Focus: Adjustment Clauses: A State-By-State Overview." Sept. 12, 2017. Web. ³⁸ Kathryn J. Kline. "Water Distribution System Improvement Charges: A Review Of Practices." National Regulatory Research Institute, Jan. 2018. Web. ³⁹ Ken Costello. "Future Test Years: Evidence From State Utility Commissions." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 13-10, Oct. 2013. Web. ⁴⁰ Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014, pp. 34-35. ⁴¹ Lawrence D. Kirsch and Matthew J. Morey. Alternative Electricity Ratemaking Mechanisms Adopted By Other States. Christensen Associates Energy Consulting, May 25, 2016. Web. ⁴² Ken Costello. "Future Test Years: Evidence From State Utility Commissions." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 13-10, Oct. 2013. Web. ⁴³ Guidehouse. "Electric Regulation For A Customer-Centric Future: Survey Of Alternative Regulatory Mechanisms." Edison Electric Institute, 2020. Web. ⁴⁴ Xcel Energy. Our Energy Future: Destination 2030: 2021 Electric Resource Plan And Clean Energy Plan, vol. 1, p. 27. ⁴⁵ Public Service Commission of Maryland. Order No. 89226: Order On Alternative Forms Of Rate Regulation And Establishing Working Group Processes. Aug. 9, 2019, pp. 11-12. ⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 11. ⁴⁷ Ibid., p. 9. ⁴⁸ Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: An Updated Survey." Edison Electric Institute, 2013. ⁴⁹ Ibid., p. 32. ⁵⁰ Ken Costello, "Future Test Years: Evidence From State Utility Commissions." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 13-10, Oct. 2013, p. 7. Web. ⁵¹ Ibid., p. 7. ⁵² Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022. ⁵³ Ibid.

⁵⁴ Ibid.

⁵⁵ Megan Cleveland, Logan Dunning, and Jesse Heibel. "State Policies For Utility Investment In Energy Efficiency." National Conference of State Legislatures, April 2019, pp. 3-15.

⁵⁶ Regulatory Assistance Project. "Revenue Regulation And Decoupling: A Guide To Theory And Application." 2011, p. 2.

⁵⁷ Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: 2015 Update." Edison Electric Institute, 2015, p. 1.

⁵⁸ Ibid., p. 17.

⁵⁹ Ibid., pp. 17-18.

⁶⁰ Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014, pp. 39-40.

⁶¹ Annie Gilleo, Marty Kushler, Maggie Molina, and Dan York. "Valuing Efficiency: A Review Of Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms." American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Report U1503, June 2015.
 ⁶² Midcontinent Independent System Operator. "Corporate Fact Sheet," June 2022. Web.

⁶³ Annie Gilleo, Marty Kushler, Maggie Molina, and Dan York. "Valuing Efficiency: A Review Of Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms." American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Report U1503, June 2015, p. 2.

⁶⁴ Andrew Satchwell, Peter Cappers, Lisa Schwartz, and Emily Martin Fadrhonc. "A Framework For Organizing Current And Future Electric Utility Regulatory And Business Models." Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, June 2015, p. 18.

⁶⁵ California. Public Advocates Office. "Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanism," 2018. Web.

⁶⁶ Lester W. Baxter. "Assessment Of Net Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms For Utility DSM Programs." Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Jan. 1995.

⁶⁷ Annie Gilleo, Marty Kushler, Maggie Molina, and Dan York. "Valuing Efficiency: A Review Of Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms." American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Report U1503, June 2015.
 ⁶⁸ Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014, p. 54.

⁶⁹ Annie Gilleo, Marty Kushler, Maggie Molina, and Dan York. "Valuing Efficiency: A Review Of Lost Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms." American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Report U1503, June 2015. Also see Megan Cleveland, Logan Dunning, and Jesse Heibel. "State Policies For Utility Investment In Energy Efficiency." National Conference of State Legislatures, April 2019.

⁷⁰ American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy. State And Local Policy Database: Utility Business Model. Web.

⁷¹ Ibid.

⁷² Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022.
 ⁷³ Ibid.

⁷⁴ Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014.

⁷⁵ Ibid.

⁷⁶ Lawrence D. Kirsch and Matthew J. Morey. *Alternative Electricity Ratemaking Mechanisms Adopted By Other States*. Christensen Associates Energy Consulting, May 25, 2016. Web.

⁷⁷ Ibid.; Regulatory Assistance Project. "Revenue Regulation And Decoupling: A Guide To Theory And Application." 2011; Ken Costello. "Alternative Rate Mechanisms And Their Compatibility With State Utility Commission Objectives." National Regulatory Research Institute, Report No. 14-03, 2014.

⁷⁸ Melissa Whited, Tim Woolf, and Joseph Daniel. "Caught In A Fix: The Problem With Fixed Charges For Electricity." Synapse Energy Economics Inc., Feb. 9, 2016.

⁷⁹ Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022.

⁸⁰ Lawrence D. Kirsch and Matthew J. Morey. *Alternative Electricity Ratemaking Mechanisms Adopted By Other States*. Christensen Associates Energy Consulting, May 25, 2016, p. 40. Web.

⁸¹ Ibid.

⁸² E9 Insight. "Reward Without Risk: A Look At Imbalances In Virginia's Unique Regulatory Constructs." Virginia Poverty Law Center, Aug. 2020, pp. 1-6.

⁸³ Ibid., p. 5.

⁸⁴ National Association of Regulatory Commissioners. Center for Partnerships and Innovation. Performance-Based Regulation State Working Group. "Examples Of Earning Sharing Mechanisms In State Utility Commissions," Aug. 13, 2020.

⁸⁵ Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022.

⁸⁶ Mark N. Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: 2015 Update." Edison Electric Institute, Mov. 11, 2015, p. 34.

⁸⁷ MN Lowry, J. Deason, M. Makos, and L. Schwartz. *State Performance-Based Regulation Using Multiyear Rate Plans For U.S. Electric Utilities*. GRID Modernization Laboratory Consortium, US Department of Energy, July 2017.

⁸⁸ Ibid.

⁸⁹ Mark Lowry, Matthew Makos, and Gretchen Waschbusch. "Alternative Regulation For Emerging Utility Challenges: 2015 Update." Edison Electric Institute, 2015, pp. 37-46.

⁹⁰ Kent Chandler, chairman, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Email to Tanya Monsanto, Oct. 4, 2022.
 ⁹¹ 807 KAR 5:076.

⁹² Kent Chandler, chairman, and Linda Bridwell, executive director, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Aug. 26, 2022. Interview.

⁹³ Kentucky. Public Service Commission. A Review Of The Rate Case Procedure For Electric Distribution Cooperatives, Case No. 2018-00407, Dec. 20, 2019.

⁹⁴ Kentucky. Public Service Commission. "PSC Moves To Streamline Rate Adjustment Process For Rural Electric Distribution Cooperatives." Dec. 12, 2018.

⁹⁵ Kentucky Electric Cooperatives Association. *Cooperative History & Frequently Asked Questions*, Sept. 12, 2022. Web.

⁹⁶ Kent Chandler, chairman, and Linda Bridwell, executive director, Kentucky Public Service Commission. Aug. 26, 2022. Interview.

97 Ibid.

⁹⁸ Kentucky. Public Service Commission. Electronic Application Of Atmos Energy Corporation For And Adjustment Of Rates And Tariff Modifications, Case. No. 2017-00349, May 3, 2018.

⁹⁹ Kentucky. Public Service Commission. Atmos Energy's Responses To Staff's Third Request For Information, Case No. 2017-00349, Jan. 3, 2018.

¹⁰⁰ Ibid. at 36-37.

¹⁰¹ John Cheves. "House Bill Would 'Streamline' Rate Increases." *Lexington Herald-Leader*, Feb. 1, 2022.

¹⁰² Tenn. Code Ann. Sec. 65-5-103(d).

¹⁰³ Brannon Taylor, vice president, rates and regulatory affairs, Kentucky/Mid-States Division, Atmos Energy; Gary Smith, vice president, commodity supply and information technology, Atmos Energy; and Patrick Keal, Kentucky state government affairs director, Duke Energy. Sept. 28, 2022. Interview.
¹⁰⁴ Ibid.

¹⁰⁵ Edison Electric Institute. *Case Study Of Alabama Rate Stabilization And Equalization Mechanism*, June 2011. Web.

¹⁰⁶ Alabama Public Service Commission. "Special Rules Governing Operation Of Rates RSE And CNP. Sixth Revision," Sept. 20, 2013.

¹⁰⁷ Edison Electric Institute. *Case Study Of Alabama Rate Stabilization And Equalization Mechanism*, June 2011. Web.

¹⁰⁸ Ibid at p. 4.

¹⁰⁹ Ibid.

¹¹⁰ David Schlissel and Anna Sommer. *Public Utility Regulation Without the Public: The Alabama Public Service Commission And Alabama Power*, March 1, 2013. Web.

¹¹¹ Alabama Power Co. v. Ala. Public Service Comm'n, 422 So. 2d 767 (1982).

¹¹² David Schlissel and Anna Sommer. *Public Utility Regulation Without the Public: The Alabama Public Service Commission And Alabama Power*, March 1, 2013, p. 2. Web.

¹¹³ Ibid.

¹¹⁴ Ibid.

¹¹⁵ Lawrence D. Kirsch and Matthew J. Morey. *Alternative Electricity Ratemaking Mechanisms Adopted By Other States*. Christensen Associates Energy Consulting, May 25, 2016. Web.

¹¹⁶ Ibid., p. 12.

¹¹⁷ Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 77-3-37(8).

¹¹⁸ Mississippi Public Service Commission. "Public Utility Rules Of Practice and Procedure," effective April 3, 2011.

¹¹⁹ Ibid.

¹²⁰ Lawrence D. Kirsch and Matthew J. Morey. *Alternative Electricity Ratemaking Mechanisms Adopted By Other States*. Christensen Associates Energy Consulting, May 25, 2016, p. 13. Web.

¹²¹ S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 58-5-400 et seq.

¹²² South Carolina. Office of Regulatory Staff. Natural Gas Rate Stabilization Act (RSA), Sept. 2021. Web.
 ¹²³ Ibid.